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SENATOR DEAN FLOREZ:  Welcome to the committee.  We’re about to start the G.O. Committee.

Obviously, we have a bill to vote on today.  We have a resolution that didn’t pass last week as well.  We’re going to move through the Senate Governmental Organization Committee and talk about “Offshore Betting:  How Much is it Costing California?”  So, if you can get the members here to establish a quorum.


In the meantime, let’s go ahead and start, if you will, the Committee on Governmental Organization as a subcommittee until members come.

I’d like to say, number one, thank you to those of you who waited.  Chairman Shapiro, thank you so much.  I know you’ve got a busy schedule.  I apologize, but obviously, we had a caucus that went a little longer than expected.  I do want to again thank everyone that traveled here this morning as well.  

I want to give you an idea of what we’re talking about today.  The title is “Offshore Betting:  How Much is it Costing California?”  The purpose of the hearing is to first examine the history of offshore wagering to date.  We’re also going to get some explanation on just how the Internet gaming works and how current laws affect the industry both at home and abroad.  We hope to give the members of the Legislature and the general public a better understanding of this very, very important issue and what it’s actually costing the State of California and how current laws affect the industry both here at home and then abroad.

We also hope to hear from our counsels this morning.  The Legislature obviously needs a better understanding of this issue.  Ultimately, the critical issue for today is whether offshore wagering should be criminally prohibited or legalized in some fashion to provide a revenue stream to the state that is currently untapped.  What is the answer to that question?  That’s really what we’re here to talk about today.


I should also let you know that to be better informed on this issue, we have witnesses who are experts in this, and I want to thank all of them for coming as well.


I would ask if my colleagues have any comments they would like to make, and then we will start the hearing.


Senator Romero.


SENATOR GLORIA ROMERO:  I just have a procedural question.  


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.


SENATOR ROMERO:  We’ve got an informational hearing and then we have a bill to take up.  Is that correct?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes, we do.


SENATOR ROMERO:  What is the order of the day?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, I think what we’re going to do is as soon as we reach a magic quorum number, I think we will try to find a requisite time between witnesses to hear those bills, and then we’ll move forward on them.


And Senator Romero, I think I should mention there’s a bill in your folders for the resolution that failed last week—or two weeks ago—as well.  Those we’re going to try to hear, probably in sequential order, as well sometime during the hearing—up or down, yes or no.  Okay?

Let’s go ahead and have our first witness, if we could, and that would be Martin Owens, attorney at law.


MR. MARTIN OWENS:  Good morning, Chairman Florez, honorable Senators.  Thank you very much for the invitation to appear here.  I’m very honored.

My name is Martin Owens.  I’m an attorney here in Sacramento, and I specialize in the law of Internet and interactive gaming.  This is my overview of Internet gambling; how it works, where it’s going, and how California can get its fair share.


To begin with, the growth of Internet gambling has been explosive.  The first Internet casino opened in 1995.  Today there’s about 2,000, roughly.  The numbers change every day.  In 2005, the worldwide gross, according to Christiansen Capital Advisers, was between 10 and 12 billion dollars.  This is predicted to reach $20 billion by 2010.  Over 70 countries now permit license or offer some kind of facilities for Internet gambling businesses.  Nevertheless, two-thirds of Internet gambling revenue is bet by U.S. residents.  The key demographics here are young, educated, prosperous people, technically savvy, with a relatively high disposable income.  These represent the technical and executive brains of the industry as well as the market.  And just on a sheer percentage basis, very rough and quite unofficial, I estimate California’s bet every year to be someplace around 7 to 8 to 9 hundred million dollars.  However, most Internet gambling dollars are not turning into tax revenue or corporate profit for America, and this is due to policy choices, nothing else.  


Let’s look at how it works.  Your bettor goes online; selects a website to sign up with.  He transfers funds to establish an account.  Losses are deducted from his account, winnings are added, and he can cash out via card, wire transfer, or a check via courier service.  The website is responsible for privacy and security, and I think it should be noted that what is called the “offshore community” in online gambling is largely self-policing at this time.  Where there is no enforcement mechanism, reputation is everything.  They even have what are called “watchdog pages” that have a list of who’s a reliable player, an operator, and who’s a fly-by-night.  

What formats do they offer?  First, you can bet against the house:  sports betting (“sports books,” as we call them), computer simulations of table games (like craps or roulette), video, and slots.  Then there’s interactive gaming:  mostly poker rooms at this time for what we call “PtoP gaming.”  But other games are also appearing, such as blackjack and even backgammon.  There’s the exchange model where the website is a neutral stakeholder for wagers between individuals.  


I think we should also mention skill games, which are coming on very strong.  They’re not gambling in the legal sense in most jurisdictions.  You can play against a computer simulation or interactive contests.  They have something called an MMORPG—Massively Multiplayer Online Role-Playing Game.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Mr. Owens, may I interrupt you to establish a quorum?


MR. OWENS:  Of course.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  We have that magic number right now.  People are in and out, and I know Senator Battin has a few things.


[Roll call.]

Okay.  We do have a quorum.  A quorum is established.

Go ahead.


MR. OWENS:  Mr. Chairman, do you want me to start at the beginning here?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Could you?  Did you go through too many slides?


MR. OWENS:  There’d be no problem.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, great.


MR. OWENS:  For our overview of Internet gaming—please excuse me for jumping the gun—this is what California can do to get its fair share.

It opened in 1995.  We have about 2,000 sites online at any given time.  It varies tremendously.  Ten to twelve billion gross annually; slated to reach         $20 billion by 2010.  Seventy countries-plus permit or aid or facilitate or license some kind of Internet gambling.  What you’re talking about is young, technologically knowledgeable, prosperous people form both the market and the brains of this.  My very rough estimate is California may be betting between 7 and 9 hundred million per year.  Most of this does not translate into tax or profits for Americans because of our policy choices, nothing else.


Now, your bettor selects a website to sign up with; transfers his funds to establish an account.  Losses are deducted, winnings added.  And he can cash out at any time with wire transfer, his card, or check.  The website is responsible for privacy and security.  Your offshore community, as we call it, is mostly self-policing these days.  Where there is no enforcement mechanism, it is a matter of reputation. 


People can play against the house with your computer games or sports bets.  They can play against each other; mostly poker, but other games are appearing.  There’s the exchange model where you have a neutral stakeholder for bets between individuals.


I should mention skill games are coming on very strong.  They’re not gambling in the legal sense.  You can play against computer simulations.  They’re hugely popular now in something called an MMORPG—Massively Multiplayer Online Role-Playing Game.  Prizes can be in the millions.  They’re hugely popular with young people, and they have terrific marketing potential.  They’re gaming but not gambling.

What are the legal basics here?  First, we have to recognize there’s been a major shift in U.S. gambling policy.  In the 18th and 19th centuries, it was a nuisance, a crime; something you’d be put in the stocks for.  Today, gambling is a permanent part of government revenue.  Forty-eight of our fifty states now allow some form of gambling and tax it.


Now, in American law, the primary reference point for gambling is the states, not the federal government.  Each state can and does make its own policy.  So, Nevada can have all kinds of gaming.  Utah next door permits nothing at all.  Constitutionally speaking, there’s no problem.  And for a long time, because everyone playing the game and the game itself had to be in the same location, jurisdiction was no particular problem.  Ah, but enter the Internet.  In the Internet, we have the first system that allows interactive real-time play across these borders—across these jurisdictional lines.  So, we have new legal problems, both civil and criminal.  The old style, of course:  physical location equals jurisdiction:  They can put their hands on you.  But in an online game, the players may all be in different places all over the world.  And the server that runs the game may be nowhere near any of them.


So, do we have a formula in American law that can tell us who has jurisdiction in such cases?  Not to give you a short answer, ladies and gentlemen, but no.  In all U.S. state and federal cases involving Internet gambling so far, jurisdiction has always been conceded at the outset.  No dispute, no argument, no resolution.  There was a New York case where the judge alleged that entering the betting transmania from a state was a gambling activity within the state.  And here we have wicked Internet gambling coming right out of the screen at the poor devil.  The problem is, jurisdiction was not in question in that case either.  And anyway, we still don’t know what happens legally when multiple jurisdictions are involved.  If I have an online poker game with players from London, one from L.A., one from Tokyo, one from Sydney, and the server is in Antigua, who has jurisdiction?  I’ve been asking that question for four years and haven’t got a straight answer yet.  What is the legal position of Internet gambling in the U.S.A.?  Well, first of all, the players have little to fear.  The act of gambling in and of itself is not a federal crime.  Many states don’t have that either.  Where it is illegal it’s a misdemeanor.

SENATOR CHESBRO:  Mr. Chairman?  I apologize for interrupting, but I have to present bills in another committee, and so I’m unable to be here.  But I wanted to express my objections to SR 20 being taken up, both because I can’t be here and also because other affected parties were not noticed.  So, I’m expressing my objection.


MR. OWENS:  Shall I continue, sir?


In any case, when you bet online, it’s practically undetectable by law enforcement unless they should accidentally happen to look on your screen.


But while the gambling policies have changed, I’m afraid the state laws have not.  Many states wrote gambling laws a hundred years ago, or more.  Fourteen states—I believe it may actually be sixteen—have no actual definition on their books of what is and is not gambling.  They define legality by outlawing specific games or devices.  I’m afraid California is a prime example.  Penal Code Section 330 talks about games of faro and monte, roulette, lansquenet, hokey-pokey.  I don’t know what those games are.  I suppose Mark Twain might have.  Only six states in fact have gambling laws that even mention the Internet.

Congressional efforts to ban Internet gaming since 1996 have likewise been completely unsuccessful.  In fact, the text of each progressive attempt has become weaker to try to outlaw operators and bar the use of the U.S. financial system as Internet gambling expands its presence in the United States.  So, none as yet have passed, and I respectfully submit that at this time, it wouldn’t much matter if it did because most I-gaming operators are effectively out of legal reach.  They don’t call it the “offshore industry” for nothing.  By the same token, much of the global financial system is too.


So, is online gambling illegal in the U.S.A.?  Well, the Department of Justice asserts that it violates the Wire Act.  I have been unable to discover either language in the statute itself or case law that supports that assertion.  But in any case, there’s a safe harbor.  Bets and betting information can be transmitted legally between two places if the bet is legal both places, and that’s Section (b) of the Wire Act.

There’s a further Department of Justice assertion that advertising is aiding and abetting a federal crime—put out in a letter in 2003 to the U.S. broadcasters and magazine publishers.  I’m afraid that’s equally devoid of support that I could find.  I just put it down as a social/political agenda attempting to rewrite the law de facto.  The fact of the matter is, online bets cross state lines legally all the time.


SENATOR JIM BATTIN:  I have a question for you.

MR. OWENS:  Yes sir.


SENATOR BATTIN:  Is that why on the television ads that they have for these sites, the whole ad is Come to our website, and we’ll teach you how to play the game?  Do you follow me?  There’s poker sites all over television, and what they advertise is, We’ll teach you how to play.  When you go on the site, there’s a section to teach you how to play, but then there’s also a whole section on playing against other people and doing exactly what we’re talking about.  


Apparently you’re not aware of these spots.  They don’t talk about gambling.  I’m just wondering if the reason that they don’t talk about gambling is because of the pressure they’re getting from the U.S. Government on it.

MR. OWENS:  That has been one response.  There are other advertisers who pitch their site directly.  I know a television executive who is buying times, not for the dot-nets, which are the teaching sites, but for the dot-coms, which are straight into gambling, and he’s buying them on primetime TV and sports events.  So, it’s out there.

There’s a 1999 Supreme Court decision called Greater New Orleans Broadcasting that specifically says that advertising for gambling is legal if the advertisement originates in a jurisdiction where it is legal.  And that’s how Louisiana casinos can advertise into Texas.


Now, twelve states, including California, now license Internet services to handle their horse bets direct from across the U.S.A.  In fact, American patrons of these services can bet out in races in Canada, in England, Asia, and Africa.  And state lotteries already use the Internet, and not just for advertising either.  Second-chance drawings—about eight or ten states use these.  I think I’ve missed a couple here.  Pennsylvania also should be there.


The interesting thing about Virginia is a Virginia congressman is sponsoring the latest attempt to outlaw Internet gambling, but you can go on a Virginia website and certainly get a second-chance drawing.  There’s online play for scratchers from New Jersey.  Buy the tickets in the store, but the event is resolved online.  


Other states have been inquiring about account betting on the Internet for their state lotteries:  Georgia, and I believe there were inquiries in Texas as well.  Other possible state-sponsored gaming:  poker rooms from North Dakota, just defeated last year.  And Internet horse betting, and Minnesota’s looking at that.  

Suppose a state were to go ahead and become involved in this.  What sort of hurdles would it be up against?  What would they have to do?  The first thing to realize is that the walls are melting.  What I mean by that is that technology is changing the gaming formats.  You look at your old style—gambling place.  You have separate machines, separate tables:  crap tables, slot machines, and so forth.  But now what we’re looking at is digital programs which are usable across multiple platforms.  Las Vegas already uses the same kinds of programs on local networks or worldwide.  Next week the Nevada Legislature will be—strike that.  The Gambling Control Board will be considering whether to allow handheld devices in the Las Vegas casinos.  But there’s already a computer in Las Vegas that’s running slot machines in Moscow.

So, it’s simply a matter of scale.  By the same token, mobile phones.  Your java-enabled, third generation mobile phone is perfectly capable of handling casino games and sports books and probably online person-to-person poker as well.  It’s just how good the graphics are.


Laptops and PDAs.  Everyone with a wireless link is a potential casino.  We also have new combinations of old games and devices.  And interestingly enough, state lotteries are leading the way here.  The Iowa State Lottery has something called an “electronic card.”  You buy it with so many spins; press, and an LCD shows you what numbers you got.  Well, what is that exactly?  Is that a scratcher?  Is it a disposable slot machine?  Your second-chance drawings are melding the formats as well.  One state is offering seats at the World Series of Poker as a drawing prize.  Another, it’s only good if you make the drawing at a basketball game.  So, is that sports betting?  The walls are melting.  The older laws and regulations are covering things that are no longer there, and they can’t provide new answers for questions like these.

Let’s have Anton from Amsterdam visit the United States.  His cell phone rings and it’s the state lottery.  He has a program there.  You can just bet every week; it goes on your phone bill.  So, is his cell phone now a gambling device?  It depends on your state law, I guess.  Do regulatory classifications make any more sense?  The idea being, Bingo is a good game, but we know that the hardball games like roulette and craps, they’re kind of bad games.  But if they’re all just processions of ones and zeros, is there really a difference anymore?  The walls continue to melt.  Gambling is going digital.  It’s going global and online.  Like it or not, anyone who’s in gambling is competing in a world market.  And globalization means that national and local authorities are operating on a different scale; they’re subject to new requirements.


You may have heard about the recent dispute between the United States and Antigua before the World Trade Organization.  Things like free trade might eventually force the United States and everybody else to grant trading partners’ access to the gambling markets.  There’s precedent in American law.  Nineteen-oh-three, the United States Supreme Court—Champion v. Ames was the case—said that gambling transactions are in fact items of interstate and international commerce, even if they happen to be illegal in one or more jurisdictions.  The Antigua case confirmed this point.  Now, that’s very important.  It’s not critical now.  Antigua is only a small country, really, but it’s vital for later because free trade is a two-way street.  

So, if states do participate, if they make that choice, how do they do it?  The first thing to realize, a government that has the right to tax and regulate a given industry has, also, the obligation to protect the customers, the patrons, the suppliers.  So, what should online gambling be able to expect from a state licensor?  First, we have to have protection of the gambler.  Ensure honest games.  Supervision to detect cheating.  Genuinely random chance.  Accurate results transmitted timely.  Quick payouts.  Accurate records.  And, on top of all of that, privacy protection.  They have to be able to protect the operators.  They have to hold the fort against cheating rings, against offshore extortion, denial of service, hackers; against sore-loser lawsuits, against people saying, Ah, that’s a gambling debt, you can’t collect.  They have to be collectible, again, if the state is to benefit.  Protect and uphold intellectual property rights.


The question has been asked:  How would the states cut up the tax and revenue pie between the jurisdictions?  I say they have a system that already works—more than one—as a working model:  OTB horse betting and combined lottery schemes.


To quickly summarize, Internet gambling is here to stay.  The opportunity to suppress it, I believe has come and gone, if it ever existed at all.  The future of gambling is digital and global.  It comes to this:  Either you compete effectively in a global market, or you lose customers to it.  The offshore industry can and does access the American market at will—between 7 to 9 billion dollars annually.  Roughly.  I say U.S. states can legally participate, especially as licensors.  There is a safe harbor that is based on a state decision, not a federal one.  In fact, the rule of thumb in gambling law is there is no problem unless the states say there’s one.  And digital convergence is melting the walls.  It’s creating new games, new markets, and new opportunities all over the world.  Authorities that don’t establish themselves in this new context risk becoming irrelevant.  

The laws—please excuse me—the laws are far behind the technology.  I respectfully submit it is no longer a question of adding a word here or a sentence there.  They have to be reconsidered, perhaps reorganized, in light of accelerating digital-based change in a rapidly expanding global market.  Partnering with progressive and responsible private firms is quite possible.  I do not believe micromanagement “is” any longer.

In conclusion, I have good news and bad news.  The good news is, California already has what it takes to participate in online gambling legally, responsibly, and profitably worldwide.  Push ahead and I believe the door will open.  The bad news is, the door is part of a train that’s already moving.  This is a rapidly evolving arena, fiercely competitive, and for operators seeking a base, it’s a buyer’s market.  There’s time, there’s opportunity, but I respectfully submit that neither one is infinite and neither one is marked “reserved.”


Thank you very much.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you very much.  Just a couple of questions, if I could.  A very good presentation.


Has anyone ever been prosecuted in the United States for gaming on the Internet?


MR. OWENS:  The one case that comes to mind is Mr. Jay Cohen.  He received a 17-month sentence for conspiracy to violate the Wire Act.  However, there are people who think that his appearance on 60 Minutes prior to the trial had a lot more to do with that than any legal technicalities, because it’s quite difficult to prove.  The jurisdiction issue still hasn’t been settled:  Where does the bet take place?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I understand.


You’re an attorney.


MR. OWENS:  Yes sir.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I didn’t hear your answer.  Was he prosecuted?


MR. OWENS:  Yes, he was.  He was 17 months incarceration.  That’s it, as far as I know.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  One.


MR. OWENS:  One.  In ten years.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Just so we can get it for the record—the threshold question that’s presented through your PowerPoint:  It’s illegal for a Californian to sit at home, place a bet through a computer by way of the Internet, in terms of an offshore casino or bookmaker?  


MR. OWENS:  With respect, I believe that’s still to be unclear because it has not been established whether that operator is actually establishing a presence in the state and therefore putting himself under the state jurisdiction.  For the state to reach out to Antigua or Gibraltar would be quite difficult, if not impossible.  He would have to have a legal presence within the state, and with respect, California still hasn’t defined what gambling is it yet.  So, how do you know if it’s in the state or not if you don’t know what it is?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I think you’re talking about the operator—correct?  I’m talking about the Californian placing the bet.


MR. OWENS:  Well, I believe that to be unclear as well because where is he?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  He’s in California.  He’s sitting in his living room in California, placing a bet through a computer on an Internet site with an offshore casino or bookmaker.  It’s very clear that’s who that is.  Is that illegal?


MR. OWENS:  It would depend on if he had previously agreed to be governed by the law of the other jurisdiction, in my view.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So, he would have to agree to be governed.  Even though he’s a Californian sitting in his living room, with a California driver’s license, lived in California his whole life, he’s under someone else’s jurisdiction.


MR. OWENS:  Well, a gambling transaction is a form of contract, and if he agrees to conduct the contract under the other jurisdiction’s laws, there you are.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Would that be the case with other states that allow for this type of interstate type of gaming?  Or is that just because it’s offshore?


MR. OWENS:  There are six states that have outlawed operators from operating, and I believe Illinois makes it specifically illegal to gamble online.  But once again, how will you know unless somebody is silly enough to come up and tell you—or unless you break down the door and he happens to have it on?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So, from your vantage point, there is no controlling state law.


MR. OWENS:  I don’t believe that the state laws have been updated sufficiently to establish themselves clearly in this context.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And it doesn’t matter what activities are being wagered on—if it’s horseracing, card games, casino-style games:  roulette, craps.

MR. OWENS:  Well, of course, it’s a completely different situation if he’s betting with somebody that has a state license, like TVG or Youbet or XpressBet.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is that the same type of gaming, given that’s kind of a form of advance wagering?  Isn’t it?

MR. OWENS:  Well, it’s parimutuel wagering, of course, and I believe it’s done on an account basis.  I don’t gamble myself.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Controlling federal laws against the Internet to place a bet with an offshore casino—how does that work?

MR. OWENS:  There is no federal law against placing any kind of bet.  In other words, it’s the operators they want.  The gambler, he votes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  Exactly.  And California’s law as it stacks up against Nevada’s—what could you tell us?  It’s been told there’s a bit of difference.  Can you give us some distinctions?


MR. OWENS:  Yes.  The Nevada law is quite clearly written:  Nobody bets in, nobody bets out, without the state’s say-so—period.  They have gone to great lengths to make that completely clear.  And it was written by experts.  It’s entirely concise, in my view.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And it’s a criminal misdemeanor there.  Correct?


MR. OWENS:  I believe so.  I would have to check on the precise penalty, but there certainly is one.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  In terms of the federal Wire Act you mentioned, I think, through your slide, is it solely addressing sports betting, or is it broader than that, from your vantage point?

MR. OWENS:  That, too, is unfortunately unclear.  The Department of Justice alleges that it covers any kind of gambling which might be on the Internet, but that was defeated in the 5th Circuit by Judge Duvall.  The court of appeals went out of its way to back him up on appeal.  He said that it specifies sports betting and nothing else.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So, sporting event or contest is the language.  It’s been ruled on whether it includes casino gaming?  So, it wouldn’t just be sports betting?  That’s unclear too.


MR. OWENS:  Mr. Chairman, the problem here is that is an allegation that is continually made by the Department of Justice, but they have never actually taken it into a court and had it adjudicated.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let’s talk about the federal Travel Act.  Travel Act?


MR. OWENS:  Yes sir—1952.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is that sufficient, in your mind, to address offshore gaming?


MR. OWENS:  No sir, because once again, we come back to the basics.  All these racketeering type of offenses and RICO all depend on an underlying offense, and when you’re talking gambling, the two triggers for federal law are 1084, the Wire Act, and 1955, the Illegal Gambling Business Act.  And both of these specify a violation of state law.  Without the underlying violation of state law, federal law is generally not invokable.


 SENATOR FLOREZ:  So, given that, California has laws that are insufficient, is what you’re telling us.  If it’s a one-two step, then you’re telling us, California’s laws under this particular test are insufficient.


MR. OWENS:  California’s laws are very unclear at this time, and I would really hate to try to prosecute anybody with what they say right now.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And if California were to, given the Travel Act, look at offshore gambling operations, would that be the act in which to kick in some federal response?  California would try to focus in on that a bit more?


MR. OWENS:  Mr. Chairman, I believe that 1952 comes into play when someone travels or uses a means of communication and so forth in furtherance of an offense.  So, once again, we go back to square one:  the underlying offense, which in this case is violation of state gambling law.  And right now it’s not there.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Any distinction between—you mentioned earlier—where a bet is placed and where it’s received in the eyes of the court?  The courts have said no distinction?  Or how do we look at that?


MR. OWENS:  Mr. Chairman, they haven’t.  That’s the whole problem.  See, they’ve asserted it.  The closest we got is the case of WIGC in New York in 1999.  The problem there was the judge’s comments regarding jurisdiction were dicta, not binding precedent, because precedent had already been ceded.  And that’s as close as we ever got.  In any case, most of these court cases we’re talking about are not prosecutions for Internet gambling.  They’re things like SEC fraud.  They’re things like consumer protection laws kicking in.  So, gambling itself is only tangential in the cases themselves—very hard to really draw anything out of that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And in terms of financial institutions that process these gaming transactions with offshore Internet casinos, is there anything we can do about those institutions?


MR. OWENS:  Mr. Chairman, it’s my opinion that there’s very little to be done at this point.  For every card you go ahead and convince not to carry Internet transactions, someone else will step up.  This is a billion-dollar industry.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Would those financial institutions fall under the Travel Act?


MR. OWENS:  No sir.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  They wouldn’t.  


MR. OWENS:  Not to my knowledge.  I’ll give you an example.  I was at a trade show about three years ago in Las Vegas.  One of the heads of the sports books’ major strip casinos made his presentation and then said, By the way, does anybody want a Hong Kong Visa?  They sent me a huge pile of applications, unasked for.  I mean, we’re talking about a world/global instantaneous transfer of funds which the United States is one of the primary architects of.  So, there’s no longer any possibility of walling off part of it and saying, All right, this is Fortress America.  It would hurt us first.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And so, your recommendation, as you said earlier, is that suppression isn’t going to work.  What do you mean by suppress?  You said don’t “suppress.”  What does that mean?  Does that mean don’t make it illegal, or does it mean don’t regulate?  Which one?


MR. OWENS:  I think California has a terrific opportunity to offer a home to operators who would like to come home and provide things like consumer protection, supervision, and so forth.  But this is, as I said, a buyer’s market.  They can relocate to the United Kingdom.  They can go up to Canada to the Kahnawake Reservation there.  There’s seventy other places they can choose from.  So, California has an opportunity, but with respect, it’s not unlimited and it’s not unique.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me talk about the advertising for a moment.  In terms of the issue of advertising, the responsibilities and the liabilities of publications for offshore Internet gaming, what can you tell us, a little bit, about that topic?


MR. OWENS:  All right, sir.  We begin in 1999 with the Supreme Court case called Greater New Orleans Broadcasting, where Louisiana Corporation sued to take down part of the Communications Act which were for bad gambling advertising.  The Supreme Court ruled essentially that it was all right to advertise/broadcast gambling.  Now, as Senator Battin noted, there’d been some confusion before that time, and if you remember back then, that’s when all the casinos were advertising not their gambling but, Come up and see the wonderful view in the restaurants—and you fill in the blank for yourself.  But, with Greater New Orleans Broadcasting, it is now all right to advertise Louisiana casinos into Arkansas even if there are no casinos in Arkansas.  And so, by the same text, you can hardly now turn around and say Antigua cannot advertise its casinos.

When the Department of Justice, in June 2003, issued what amounted to a threatening letter to the United States magazine publishers and broadcasters, essentially they were saying that you’re aiding and abetting a federal crime.  Well, as I have said, it’s not at all clear where we are in the crime curriculum to begin with.  And secondly, they didn’t mention that Supreme Court decision.  Once again, this is something I would really hate to try to have to prosecute.  

As a matter of fact, there was a company called Casino City Press which sued the Department of Justice, and the Department of Justice immediately backed away, saying, Oh, we didn’t mean you.  Well, Casino City Press, all they do is advertise online gaming.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  But simply posting an ad for an online offshore gaming site itself is not a violation of any federal or state act.


MR. OWENS:  I don’t believe it is because I have never seen the Department of Justice actually haul anybody into court and say, All right, you’re charged with [this].  The closest they’ve ever come is a couple of settlements.  There was a confiscation of funds from Discover, and an outfit in St. Louis called the Sporting News had to settle for $7 million; but, then, they were peculiarly subject to leverage at the time.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Does that dynamic change with advertising?  We click through technology where the advertiser is making a profit also and actually incurring, if you will, some sort of. . . . beyond posting now.  We’re going, actually, through the ad.  It seems as though the profit were the motive.  Even under the Travel Act, there’s some sort of connection there.  Is that something that anyone’s talked about—click-through rates? 


MR. OWENS:  Well, sir, I believe that you can compare an advertiser of online gaming to an advertiser of real estate.  If the real estate deal turns out to be a swindle, do they go arrest the staff of the Sacramento Bee?  You see, so long as it is an arm’s-length transaction—I buy so much airtime, I buy so many column inches—the newspaper, the broadcaster, or whoever, has no interest in whether the particular business sells or doesn’t sell, succeeds or fails.  Advertisement for money.  So long as it’s in those terms, I really don’t see a hook to attach any kind of criminality, unless they’re witting parties beforehand.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  You mentioned earlier, I think, there’s a Department of Justice letter to the National Association of Broadcasters.


MR. OWENS:  Yes sir.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  There it says that offshore sports books and online casino advertising was troubling because it misled the public.  Can you give us some thoughts on that?


MR. OWENS:  Well, if they want to be troubled, I suppose they’re troubled.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  They’re troubled as far as it goes.


MR. OWENS:  They’re making assertions which they simply cannot back up.  I’ve been asking somebody to show me a case, a statute, anywhere that says advertising Internet gambling amounts to a crime.  The best I could find was completely the contrary:  the Shuttlesworth case where the Supreme Court said there is no such thing as aiding and abetting a legal act.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Where does commercial speech run into this?  Is this pure commercial speech to you that can go anywhere it needs, even if it’s maybe aiding and abetting in some sort of activity that’s illegal?


MR. OWENS:  I believe it should be commercial speech, and particularly when you’re talking about the Internet, because you’re talking about implications of international free speech.  In other words, if we have the right to shut off Antigua’s advertising, why doesn’t Saudi Arabia have the right to come in here and shut off things they don’t like?  Or perhaps the Iranians.  


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Do you think we have any tools at the state level here?  Currently, you’ve seen four advertisers in California?


MR. OWENS:  Tools, sir?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Tools, in terms of prosecutions.  So, you don’t think we should prosecute at all for commercial speeches, pure, even though it may be pushing something that isn’t necessarily legal in California.

MR. OWENS:  With respect, sir, if I were a politician, I wouldn’t prosecute any of the mass media. They wouldn’t carry my advertisements at election time.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I think we pay them for that, don’t we?


The State Attorney General sent out a similar letter to broadcasters in this state, warning advertisers they may be aiding and abetting an illegal action.  Is that just another letter to you—no teeth to it?  Anything to that?


MR. OWENS:  I would have to ask him what he would do if Casino City Press were to come in and sue him.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Members, do you have any other questions?


Senator Margett.


SENATOR BOB MARGETT:  Yes.  Senator Florez, in your line of questioning there, I didn’t want to interrupt.  I have two questions, Mr. Owens.  In your law experience, have you been a prosecutor?

MR. OWENS:  No sir.


SENATOR MARGETT:  Going back to, if I can take you back a few moments, you made a comment with regards to an appeals court judge, that the person who is in front of that appeals court either had their blessings or ingratiated himself to that appeals court.  Do you recall that comment that you made?


MR. OWENS:  What I believe I said, Senator, was that Judge Duvall, in the 5th Circuit, went ahead and made a particular statement that the Wire Act—18 USC 1084—covered the transmission of bets and betting information on sporting events only.  Now, that decision was appealed, and the appeals court also approved of that reasoning specifically.


SENATOR MARGETT:  Well, the connotation that I got from your comments was that he was excited about this, happy about the judgment that he made.  Did I misread you?


MR. OWENS:  I’m sorry if I gave you that impression.  What I was able to gather is Judge Duvall was quite upset.  He went ahead and threw the case completely out that was brought before him.  He said they had simply failed to make anything like a reasonable complaint.  I don’t think happiness covered his feelings at that point.


SENATOR MARGETT:  Okay.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Any other questions from members?


Senator Vincent.


SENATOR EDWARD VINCENT:  You were talking about gambling, and it comes to mind this is like the horseracing business.  I remember before they had TVG.  I remember before they had ADW.  You know what people were doing?  They were betting with bookies.  They were betting everywhere.

MR. OWENS:  That’s right.


SENATOR VINCENT:  So, when that came in, that took a lot of things away.  In other words, instead of going to the tracks, a lot of people are staying home now.  They stay home and bet because they can do it in advance.  And it’s the same thing about the whole horseracing industry.  It seems to me like we’re trying to kill it.  Seems like we’re trying to kill the whole horseracing industry.  

You know, it’s unbelievable; when these things come to mind, it’s unreal what happens in California.  This is the people here.  If you look at things out here, we’ve got the best jockeys in the world rode here.  Okay?  Lafitte was the best there ever was.  You had Schumacher.  You had Longden.  You had the best in the world.  There’s no question about we have the best tracks in the world.  If you go to Santa Anita, Howard Park, and Del Mar, it don’t get no better than that.  It doesn’t get any better than that.  But you know what’s getting better than that?  Tracks like Prairie Meadows, Iowa, which is about as big as this room.  Another place, like Mountaineer Track—about as big as the hallway.  And you know why that is.  Right?

MR. OWENS:  Well, Senator, I certainly share your dismay about the decline of the horseracing industry.  My dad’s a thoroughbred trainer in Cleveland.


SENATOR VINCENT:  Well, you know what I’m talking about then.


MR. OWENS:  Yes, and I think it’s very urgent that the thoroughbred—well, all the horse-betting industries—make some kind of arrangement where they can start getting their fair share of this money which is otherwise simply flowing over their heads offshore to people who are stealing the signal anyway and don’t owe them a dime.  Well, they owe them a dime, but they’re not going to see it.  Well, if you’re creating this gap, something’s going to come in to fill it.  And with respect, you people have the power.


SENATOR VINCENT:  Yeah, right.


MR. OWENS:  You can reach in and save it, but the horseracing really needs help.


SENATOR VINCENT:  Just take a look at it, what we’ve got here.  I mean, we’re just blowing it.  We’re asleep out here, and we’re going to wake up dead.  Here’s the thing.  Everybody’s heard about the Triple Crown—just about anybody in horseracing.  You go to Churchill Downs—that’s in one state:  Kentucky.  Then you can leave there and go to Preakness in Maryland.  And then you go to the Belmont Stakes in New York.  That’s three states.  We’ve got already here—we’ve got the Pacific Coast Classic already down in Del Mar.  We have the Hollywood Gold Cup, and we have the Santa Anita Handicap.  Those are already million-dollar races.  Million-dollar races we have here already.


You know, when I mentioned Prairie Meadows—because I went to the University of Iowa, so I’ve been there a lot of times.  I was born and raised in Steubenville, Ohio, where Dean Martin and Frank Sinatra—all those guys—would go up to Mountaineer Track because they. . . . at first they didn’t have it.  They were going out of business but then they got the slots.  Mountaineer’s probably doing better than Santa Anita or Hollywood Park now.

But it’s sad for us to have everything going for us and don’t know where we’re going.


MR. OWENS:  Amen.


SENATOR VINCENT:  That’s all I got to say.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Any other questions, members?


Before you leave, you’re the first witness to kind of set up other folks as we go forward, and I guess I’m just trying to understand for maybe just my edification—the committee probably gets it—but we have this physical, world activity called gaming, and we can somewhat control that.  In some states it’s all right; some states it’s not.  And then we have this cyber activity.  I guess in my mind I’m trying to distinguish, from government that’s trying to level the playing field, between physical and cyber.  I mean, there really aren’t two rules.  And the reason I think the states have been given this very unique opportunity when it comes to gaming, at least to assert ourselves, I guess I’m struggling with the fact that it seems to me what you’re saying is give up on the cyber world; it’s over already.  We’re never going to be able to regulate it like we do the physical gaming world.  

That’s a bit troublesome for me because I guess the role that I see is try to have everyone competing at some equal level.  And I think what we’re saying, if we’re going to forego because we don’t have the tools, we don’t have the statutes, the federal government isn’t giving us any direction, the state really has no way, in essence, to capture the cyber world of gaming.  I don’t know how to put it any other way, but if I were the criminal world, I’d say there’s one world that’s regulated and there’s one world that isn’t.  There’s one world where people know what the rules are, and there’s one world that I could participate in a whole host of other types of activities, and I would include offshore gaming in that.  And I guess in my view, that seems like a more dangerous precedent to set as a nation, and probably for our state—where people look at a very unregulated, very wieldy world, where lots of different things can happen—when you don’t really know who your customer is.  You don’t know who may be pushing different types of pots of money through various offshore companies.  And then you look at the regular world, the regular gaming world, as I would call it—the physical world—that has some real stopgap measures.


How do I look at those two worlds?  Are they just always going to be different?  We give up on one and we just do the other?  How do I look at that, just maybe in closing?


MR. OWENS:  Sir, the old world is disappearing, and the rules that are based on the technology of the old world are becoming increasingly irrelevant.  Just as regulating telephones and all sorts of telecommunications, the rules are becoming obsolete because we don’t have old-fashioned, wire copper lines anymore.  We don’t have old radio towers anymore.  You get on the cable to get your Internet and you go on with VOIP phoning.  So, is that telephone, computer, television?  What have we got?  The walls are melting together.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I got it.  So, does that condone anything you want, any way you want it?


MR. OWENS:  No sir.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  No regulation whatsoever.  Do whatever you need to do.  Take video feed; steal it; put it back on the Internet and create 101 revolving companies; close one; open another.  Is what I’m hearing you saying is that’s the way of the world?


MR. OWENS:  No sir.  What I’m saying is . . .


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So, what is the way of the world?  How do we equalize that?  How do we get our hands around that?


MR. OWENS:  First of all, there’s more help than you know.  I can testify from personal experience that most of the people in online gaming are honest people because the bettor doesn’t have to bet with anybody.  Reputation is everything.  That is an unappealable court.  


Secondly, California is unusually well supplied with exactly the type of people who can help this state get an edge.  There are people looking for a home if they can get one.  But, you cannot simply say here, Well, it isn’t the way it used to be, damn it.  No, and probably never was.  The point is, California has a terrific opportunity . . . 

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Do you think these people want a home where there’s real taxation and there is the kind of financial disclosure that other public companies would have to provide?  Do you really think they want to come to California to do all that?


MR. OWENS:  They’re going into England where the taxes are higher, sir.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Do you think they want to come to California and say, I want a home, darn it, and I want to pay more taxes, and I want to disclose my financial records.  I want to deal with the SEC.  I want to go file information on winnings with the IRS?  Do you really think they want to do that?  Do you really think that anyone here believes that they’re poor folks just looking for a home and they want to come to California and deal with all that?  Or do you think they get the advantages of being offshore and they like it there?


MR. OWENS:  Well, sir, if they have no home, that’s where they’ll go.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I wonder why they don’t have a home.  Maybe they’re trying to avoid all that.  What do you think?


MR. OWENS:  Some are.  But—there are people who will come here if there’s something to offer.  And if California has nothing to offer them, they’ll go somewhere else.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  How about bigger, better statutes for money laundering?  Do you think that’d make them want to come to California?


MR. OWENS:  No.  Money laundering is the hardest thing of all to do on the Internet.  Every dollar has an identifier.  To launder money, you need to have the cash anonymous, and that’s exactly what you don’t get online.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Are they registered with the U.S. Treasury Department of Financial Crimes Enforcement Network?


MR. OWENS:  Are who?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  The folks that we’re talking about—the offshore folks.


MR. OWENS:  I haven’t asked them that question, sir.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’ll bet you they’re not.


MR. OWENS:  It could be.  If it was a condition of operating openly here, would they do it?  Probably.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And what evidence can you cite for that?


MR. OWENS:  Because I’ve talked with them, and they have told me to my face that, Yes, we would love to come and operate in a place where we can use the banking system, use the telecom, have it openly.  All right, taxes is the price for that, fine.  But if they’re unwelcome and driven out, all right, that’s where they’ll go.


SENATOR BATTIN:  I think a lot of it is that, just like in any business, someone will come for the legitimacy of being in California, being in the United States.  That’s a marketing edge for them.  Others won’t.  Others will stay where they’re at.  

Part of the technology you were talking about, one of the things that you were saying which really stuck with me is you basically said reputation is everything.  Some of these folks, you’re betting against them; you don’t know what the odds are on the bet that you make.  Some of those that you say you’re betting against other players, you don’t actually even know that.  You might very well be betting against them, and they can change the cards as they need to, to win a certain percentage of the hands.  There’s all these different scenarios of where unscrupulous agents can cheat you.  Reputation might be something, but marketing in that vast world of the Internet is something else as well.

MR. OWENS:  People have the same probably on eBay.


SENATOR BATTIN:  You’re absolutely right.  eBay self-regulates itself though.  I mean, eBay is one place, and the people within eBay will rate you.  The Internet is not that one place.

UNIDENTIFIED:  [Inaudible.]  


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Every three or four months.  It’s called the “grand equity.”  Right?


MR. OWENS:  With respect, sir, neither do most of the online games.  They want to get a reputation.


SENATOR BATTIN:  You’re right, and I agree with you, but you also have to recognize that there are a lot of bad actors in it as well.  I’ve listened to this conversation going back and forth.  I simply don’t know how you get your hands around it as a state government.  The federal government certainly might have the ability to do it, but when you start wanting to regulate what’s available on the Internet, then it becomes a sticky wicket indeed.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  That’s a good transition to our Attorney General’s Office.  Thank you, Senator Battin.


Any other questions?


Thank you so much for coming.


MR. OWENS:  Thank you very much, Senators.  It was an honor.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Appreciate your comments.


Okay.  Let’s have Bob Mukai, Office of Attorney General, senior assistant; head of Gaming and Indian Law.


MR. BOB MUKAI:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman and Senators.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Good morning.  Mr. Mukai, do you have a prepared statement?  I have some questions.  We can proceed either/or—either way you’d like to do it.


MR. MUKAI:  Mr. Chairman, I came armed with some notes from which to speak, but if it is the pleasure of the committee, I’m happy to just respond to questions that may have been occasioned by the prior presentation.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me go through some questions.  What I don’t cover, maybe that will speed this a little bit more so.


Your background with the Office of the Attorney General?  Maybe give the committee some background.


MR. MUKAI:  Mr. Chairman, I started with the Office of the Attorney General in Los Angeles in 1972.  For the far greater part of my career with the office, I’ve been here in Sacramento.  During Attorney General Lungren’s administration, I was the chief of the Civil Division, and am currently the chief of a section called the Indian and Gaming Law Section, which exists within the Public Rights Division.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  You got an opportunity, I guess, to hear us for about an hour talk about whether or not California has sufficiently clear and strong laws on our books in terms of illegal gaming that occurs at offshore gaming enterprises.  Can you give us some insight on maybe what you heard?


MR. MUKAI:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  The senators are aware, I believe, that California’s principal gambling laws are contained in Chapter 10 of our Penal Code, commencing with Section 330.  Since the first gambling statutes were enacted during the period of the Gold Rush, California has historically enacted selective prohibitions against the specific forms of gaming that it intended to prohibit.  A reference to this was made by Mr. Owens.  California prohibits some games by type:  banking and percentage games.  It prohibits other games by name:  faro, roulette, various other games.  It does not prohibit craps by name, but it does prohibit games played with dice or other devices if they are banking games.  California has no specific prohibition on gambling being conducted over the Internet, clearly.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that would be the principal difference between Nevada and the State of California?  Maybe you can outline those two.


MR. MUKAI:  California, without a specific prohibition on gambling conducted over the Internet, can be usefully contrasted with Nevada which does have such a law, but that law has some constitutionality problems.  The constitutionality problem with the Nevada law is that it permits casinos to conduct online gambling while prohibiting the out-of-staters.  So, its own casinos are protected.  Out-of-staters and, perforce, entities from out of the country are disadvantaged by the law because they’re prohibited in the Nevada market.  

The Nevada statute arguably exists specifically in order to preserve the Nevada market for the benefit of the Nevada casinos by denying access to everyone but Nevada casinos.  So, the statute has the problem that it discriminates against commerce in a way that arguably violates the Commerce Clause itself.


If there were hypothetically a statute enacted that clearly was not passed for the purpose of protecting the market for the home industries, so to speak, but that completely banned, for example, Internet gambling and prohibited everyone from offering gambling online, then there’s a different set of issues that comes to the floor having to do with the extra territoriality that Mr. Owens referred to earlier.


Everywhere in the U.S. and practically everywhere else in the world, the presumption is that when a state or a government enacts a law, the law is intended to apply within the geographical borders of the state or government that enacted it and not outside of that state.  So, if any state intends that a particular statute is to apply outside its own borders, the expectation is that the state—and here we’re talking about nation states as well as states within a federation—is going to say so explicitly in the statute that it passes.  And if the intent is to make the statute apply beyond the state’s own borders, it’s going to be clearly stated.  That in turn raises a handful of issues and problems that need to be considered by way of limitations on the ability of that state to make the prohibition work.  

Within the context of the United States, the question would be—I guess first and foremost—whether it’s legally permissible constitutionally and as a matter of existing federal law in the first instance.  If there is some restriction in federal law or in the Constitution itself that would prevent the state from enacting a law that purports to apply to businesses in other states or to other state governments or, in quotes, “to the whole world,” then we need to know that.  And if there’s no external restriction against the law that the state wants to enact, a second issue is:  How do you enforce it if it’s violated?  And again, this is an issue that the previous speaker addressed.  Against whom can the law be enforced?  And then, if you identify that, the question becomes:  How do you do it?

If we assume that the kind of gambling operation that a state like California might want to aim at stopping is legal in the country of origin—for example, Antigua—then the first consideration under this particular hierarchy is the Commerce Clause.  Generally, if a state’s legislation is enacted within the scope of its police power—and it’s almost universally agreed that gambling is subject to the plenary police power of the state—and is not discriminatory against other states in its purpose—such as I posited the Nevada statute—or in its operation—meaning it applies to everybody everywhere; not selectively and not with the exception of the home industry—then the courts aren’t going to hold that the statute burdens commerce such that the Commerce Clause, of its own force, would prohibit it.  And here again, supposing that unlike the Nevada statute that our Legislature might consider would apply across the board to everyone, in state as well as out of state.  So, at least as far as commerce between the states would be concerned, there’s likely not to be a direct problem with the Commerce Clause itself.

So then, another question would be whether the California statute, if it were enacted, would conflict with federal law that already exists on the same subject.  Currently, as the prior speaker has alluded to, there’s arguably no federal statutory law to conflict with on the specific subject of Internet gambling or offshore gambling or offshore Internet gambling that uses the Internet to deliver the gambling experience to the U.S. market.

Federal law in the near vicinity of the subject matter, so to speak, has been alluded to by Mr. Owens.  It’s aimed at allowing the states essentially to enforce their own laws on such things as gambling but, again, with a supposition that those laws will apply locally within the state’s jurisdiction and of facilitating those state efforts where it can.  The application of federal statutes that bear on Internet gambling by extension are uncertain as to offshore operations, and that’s a point that was made also by the prior speaker.


If I may just spend a minute on the federal statutes that I’ve been gesturing at, it may be useful.  The Wire Act, which was also referred to by the chair and by the prior speaker, was enacted in 1961.  In a nutshell, it prohibits wagers from being taken using a wire communication facility; that is, over telephone lines or over cables.  There are conflicting federal court decisions, as the prior speaker also indicated, concerning the applicability of the Wire Act to Internet-based gambling based on the coverage of the forum of the gambling involved—i.e., some decisions say it applies but only applies to sports betting—and also as to the means of transmission.  Presumably, under the literal language of the statute, there has to be some kind of wire communication facility involved in the activity.  That is a subject that has been subject to reexamination in Congress since 1995, and there are currently two bills that are worthy of note that take up the possibility of amendment to the applicable legislation that would improve enforceability in that area.


Another federal act is the Gambling Business Act which was enacted in 1952 which prohibits five or more people engaging in criminal activity during a thirty-day period that generates more than $2,000 during any single day within that thirty-day period. 


Reference has also been made to the Federal Trade Act that prohibits false or misleading advertising, and comments have been addressed to the efforts of the federal government with regard to that act.


The Cohen case was referred to.  In 2001, the 2nd Circuit affirmed the conviction of Mr. Cohen in a Wire Act prosecution for taking bets from the U.S. over the Internet at his casino site licensed in Antigua where it is legal to conduct such activities.  The casino site was called World Sports Exchange.  It was in fact a sports betting facility.  This is a business that Jay Cohen had started at the age of twenty-five in Antigua in 1997, or thereabouts, with a couple of acquaintances named Hayden Ware and Steve Schillinger, with some investor backing from outside.  In March of 1998, the federal government charged the three of them and a number of others who were engaged in similar businesses offshore with violations of the Wire Act.  Cohen returned to the United States to answer the charges, and he was tried, and he was convicted, and he was sentenced to 21 months in prison.  Perhaps he served 17 of those 21 months, according to the prior speaker, but the sentence was evidently 21 months.  And he paid a $5,000 fine.  The point is sometimes made that that $5,000 fine would have, at the time of the business of World Sports Exchange, covered more than seven times over the number of bets taken on a single baseball game by that business in the course of a two-hour period.  Of course, the 17 months is something else again.

The conviction was upheld by the 2nd Circuit in its decision in the United States v. Cohen.  That decision’s been referred to by Mr. Owens.  That decision affirms the trial court on the basis that the Wire Act does prohibit, at least, sports betting over the Internet.  The Cohen case is an example of a successful, direct prosecution of an individual for offshore Internet gambling.  Please bear in mind, Cohen was an American in a foreign country, conducting business that was legal in that country; illegal if in the United States.  So, the federal courts gave the Wire Act extra territorial effect to the extent of applying it to the conduct of an American citizen who was arrestable in the United States.  His friends, Hayden Ware and Steve Schillinger, minded the job while he was standing trial and serving his sentence.  They were not tried or incarcerated.


Other decisions have said that the Wire Act does not apply to Internet gambling, other than sports betting.  The MasterCard International Internet gambling legislation I believe was alluded to by either the chairman’s question or one of Mr. Owens’s observations.  This was litigation in which two MasterCard holders from Kansas sought to avoid liability to MasterCard—to the issuing bank—by alleging that the MasterCard company—MasterCard International—had facilitated an illegal gambling activity under RICO.  There’s a civil RICO action which was sought to be used by individual accountholders for the purpose of avoiding their debts.  There were a number of problems with their claims, but one of the things they did not allege, which the 2nd Circuit realized and recognized specifically, was that they did not allege that it had been sports betting that they engaged in; hence that holding.


Other attempts at restriction of Internet betting have involved efforts, as has also previously been stated, to go after the advertisers.  The USDOJ letter has been referred to by the chairman.  Further to that letter in 2003, the U.S. Attorney for the Eastern District of Missouri, in St. Louis—Raymond Gruender—issued subpoenas to local radio stations—numerous media outlets actually—within that U.S. Attorney’s jurisdiction which were designed, he said, to obtain evidence of Federal Communications Act violations relating to commercial and financial information about the advertising of Internet casinos and sports books.  

Very soon after the initial flurry of subpoenas, Clear Channel Communications, one of the largest, if not the largest, chain of radio stations, and the Discovery Networks stopped airing advertisements for offshore Internet casinos.  About a year later, September of 2004, three radio companies in St. Louis—the Missouri Sports Radio, Simulcast, and All Sports Radio—agreed to pay fines to settle federal charges that they had aided and abetted illegal gambling activities by promoting offshore and online gambling on KFNS-AM, KENS-FM, and KRFT-AM between the period from mid-2000 through September of 2003.

Also referred to were the efforts made at going after the funding intermediaries—the credit card companies, electronic fund transfer services, online payment services; the MasterCard case that I just attempted to encapsulate as one such example undertaken—on the basis of private RICO suits by private self-interested and self-styled victims of the activity.  

One interesting point is that up until 2003, PayPal, which is now owned by eBay, dominated the online payment business, and up until 2002, it had about 600 gambling sites using its service for their transactions.  Between January and March of 2002, a very short period of time, it increased that number by almost doubling it to 1,022 gambling sites.  In June of 2003, the New York Attorney General Elliott Spitzer subpoenaed PayPal’s records concerning the use of its service by gamblers, meaning the customers who were making bets.  And as a result of the subpoena issuance, PayPal eventually agreed to cease servicing payments to the online gambling entities from bettors in New York State as of September of that year.


Again, partly in response to the suits brought by customers seeking to avoid credit card charges based on their gambling debts—some of which have been successful anecdotally—MasterCard and Visa have restricted use of their cards.  Bank of America, MBNA, Chase Manhattan, and City Bank had begun by 2004-2005, begun blocking service codes for gambling activity transactions, such as the use of credit cards to buy gambling chips in land-based casinos, and activity overseas that appeared to be directly gambling related online.


So, there have been these informal responses as well as formal actions taken at the federal level.  Responses in Congress have been of varied quality and coverage.  The Kyle bill, which had its first appearance in 1995, is the historic prototype of that legislation.  It would have imposed a federal ban on Internet gambling.  That is, the legislation would have prohibited the opportunity to gamble through an online connection with a gambling business that had been set up in a foreign-based state.  This was a bill that was first presented as an amendment to the Crime Prevention Act of 1995.  It has since subsequently appeared as S. 627.  It would have prohibited everything from actual online betting to publication of information about it.


The proposed restrictions at the time were criticized as being so broad that it would have been arguably questionable about whether a brick and mortar casino could advertise its services on the Internet at all.  Besides the free speech implications for a commercial speech, the Kyle bill would also have made it a federal crime to place a bet from anywhere in the United States with an online gambling business.  This, of course, was a problem for the United States Department of Justice.  USDOJ made it clear in response to the Kyle bill, and has since reiterated the position, that it did not want to be arresting and prosecuting people for recreational betting online.  I believe USDOJ has continually used the term “mere bettors” when referring to people who place those bets.  In a letter issued by USDOJ in 1998—which I think the committee has access to, but if not, I’ll be happy to provide a copy—states its policy views on federal restrictions on online gambling and explains that this should be left to the states, as indeed it has been; saying, in effect, that as far as mere bettors are concerned, there’s no reason to make a federal case out of it.


In addition to those criticisms, state-regulated racing industries opposed the bill because of their own legitimate, limited, specific use of online betting which would have been prohibited by the bill.  State lotteries also opposed the bill for the same reason.  And in the amendment process, the bill dropped its application to “mere bettors” and provided coverage exclusions for securities and commodities trading, closed-loop Internet betting on horseracing and dog racing from home terminals (including interstate), parimutuel pooling of bets between racetracks or dog tracks, state lotteries (as long as the bets are made from public terminals), betting on fantasy sports league contests, and closed-loop instate Internet betting with licensed sports books.  

The reaction of USDOJ to that was that it just wasn’t comfortable with a statute that contained so many explicit exemptions.  USDOJ has pretty consistently said that identification of substantive federal criminal offenses ought to be treated the same whether their commission is online or if it’s out in the real world—on the telephone; in person—so that if it’s not a federal crime to make a bet by voice over the phone, it shouldn’t be a crime to make that bet by a computer modem.  That’s USDOJ’s historic position.

USDOJ has also taken the position that present laws cover most interstate gambling—witness the letters.  The informal methods used by USDOJ in order to secure compliance and, therefore, expressly exempt certain forms of legal gaming from a prohibition on Internet gambling has the effect of authorizing those specific gambling forums.  That is deemed to be an untoward consequence of being somewhat too specific in coverage so as to lead to the inference that what is not prohibited is in fact permitted.


If I could just fast-forward to the fall of last year—the two bills that I had referred to earlier in the federal hopper.  Representative James Leach of Iowa introduced HR 4411 on November 18, 2005, with twenty-nine cosponsors.  This is a self-contained bill that adds a completely new subchapter—Chapter 53 of Title 31 of the US Codes.  Title 31 is money and finance (previously banking), and Chapter 53 has to do with money transactions which covers subjects like money laundering.  This bill, currently active, prohibits gambling businesses from accepting credit cards, EFTs, drafts, or proceeds from any other form of financial transactions such that the secretary of state might identify in regulations to be promulgated.  It mandates the Sec./Treas. to adopt those regulations requiring payment systems like those identified—all of those identified—to identify and block restricted transactions.  Which means that they would be obliged to ID and block any transaction or transmittal where the receipt of the funds is prohibited—or the recipient of the funds is prohibited from accepting the money under the operative section of the bill.  The bill gives the federal courts original and exclusive jurisdiction to prevent and restrain the violations of that act, and it authorizes the federal DOJ and state attorneys general to bring suits for injunction for that purpose.  On Indian lands, enforcement authority is with the United States, except as specified by compact between the tribes and the states.

The bill contains a list of exclusions specifying what is not a bet.  Of course, the devil is in the exclusions and in the other details.  Most of the exclusions that were in the original 1995 Kyle bill are contained in this bill as well.  What is unlawful under the bill is placing, receiving, or transmitting of a bet or wager over the Internet if the bet is unlawful under applicable federal, state, or tribal law, where the bet is initiated or where the bet is received.  And horseracing is specifically protected.


February of this year—last month—Representative Bob Goodlatte of Virginia introduced another bill—HR 4777—which is entitled the Internet Gambling Protection Act.  It was introduced on the 16th of February with 115 cosponsors, and it’s picked up a couple of additional cosponsors now.  This would rewrite the entire Wire Act, eliminating the element of the act that arguably restricts the act—to strict application of the act—to the use of phone lines or cables for the transmission of wagers or betting information.  The bill would prohibit gambling businesses from using what it refers to as a communication facility—not a wire communication facility—for the transmission in interstate or foreign commerce of bets or wagers or information assisting in the placement of bets or wagers.  And it prohibits the gambling business from transmission of a communication in interstate or foreign commerce that entitles the recipient to receive money or credit as a result of bets or wagers.  So, it prevents the communications going in, and it prevents money from being paid out.


The bill prohibits gambling businesses from accepting credit cards, EFTs, checks, drafts, proceeds of any other form of financial transaction that, again, are required to be identified in regulations to be adopted by the Secretary of the Treasury.  The bill, like the Leach bill, contains essentially the same list of exclusions from the definition of bets or wagers, as was contained in the original Kyle bill, and it also excludes participation in games in which the only prize is credits for further play of the same game.  It adds some limitations to the Leach bill’s fantasy league simulation games that are also excluded from coverage by HR 4411.

The bill protects advertising of gambling where it’s legally conducted and educational information about betting.  It protects information in news stories and information on state-run lotteries.  There’s a general exclusion from the bill for all intrastate gambling activity where it’s legal within the states so as not to interfere with the home industry.  And it authorizes federal and state law enforcement agencies to obtain injunctive or declaratory relief to restrain or prevent violations.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Can I go through some questions real quick?


MR. MUKAI:  Please.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And I’m going to excuse you because I know we have some panels as well.


Let me just ask first and foremost, given all of that you mentioned, the big question for us—at least for me today—is:  From law enforcement perspective, how big an issue is offshore gaming?  Where do you rank it up there?  You’re the AG’s Office.


MR. MUKAI:  Well, in California, while I would agree that California offers a very ripe market for offshore gaming, the reality of it is that, given the state of the current Penal Code provisions, the law does not exist for purposes of successful prosecution of offshore gambling unless the perpetrator of the offshore gambling presents himself or herself in California for prosecution.  In California, as the chair is aware, Penal Code Section 330 actually does prohibit bettors from engaging in the betting that is prohibited by that section.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Misdemeanor.  Correct?


MR. MUKAI:  It’s a misdemeanor violation.  Whether individuals should be prosecuted separately or should be subject to prosecution separately for Internet gambling is, of course, a policy issue.  As it has not presented itself in the form of a statute, our office has not been obliged to confront.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  No statute.  Right?


MR. MUKAI:  No statute that directly prevents Internet gambling.  Also, no statute that directly enables it.  However, in that connection, some of the prior speaker’s comments concerning the World Trade Organization’s decision in the Antigua case I believe are extremely germane, particularly if the policy of the state is to be to restrict or prohibit Internet gambling in California.  And that is because the appellate body of the World Trade Organization, when it decided the Antigua case, ruled that gambling and betting services are indeed subject to coverage by the general agreement on trade and services as recreational services because the United States did not specifically exempt gambling activities from coverage on the coverage list.  The U.S. was successful in making the case that the morality clause, so to speak, of GATS was invokable in this particular situation, and the appellate body was willing to give that clause recognition in the case of the United States.  There were some comments reserved, however, for the fact that the United States does protect the home industry with regard to horseracing, which the appellate body identified as being directly discriminatory against foreign trade, and for that reason indicated that that was a problem.  But with regard to gambling generally, the decision was willing to recognize that for purposes of preserving good morals, the United States had the ability to refuse an open market to the Antigua industry.

The difficulty with the decision, if I may, Mr. Chairman—or one difficulty—is that the decision says a ban on an activity in the service sector that is covered by GATS—and gambling is covered according to this decision—it constitutes a quota of zero, which is impermissible.  It violates GATS’ market access requirements that prohibit quantitative limits on the importation of services, however it’s expressed.  So, to say that an outright prohibition on gambling such as is contained in Utah’s statutory structure, for example, constitutes a violation of market access, means that state and federal government would be powerless to enforce prohibitions on conduct among those services that are subject to GATS’ commitments.  

Offshore gambling entities would argue that national treatment, which calls for the least-restrictive regulation doctrine to be applied, would govern their situation, and they would advocate—the countries harboring those industries—would advocate that their industries are entitled to U.S. market access on the basis of least-restrictive regulation within the national level, as the prior speaker indicated.  Utah; right next door—Nevada.  The offshore industry would advocate Nevada for everybody, including foreign entities operating on the Internet.  States like Utah would be presumably unable to enforce their total prohibition because it would constitute a zero quota in the eyes of GATS, in the eyes of the World Trade Organization.


This decision, as individual senators have recognized in communicating with the federal government, this decision presents troubling implications well beyond gambling.  The Nursing Board, I believe, has testified before Senator Figueroa’s subcommittee on its concerns that nursing standards will be undercut by this approach to services.  But the state’s authority to control its own water quality has already been challenged under NAFTA similarly—the MTBE problem—and control over open-pit mining has likewise been challenged under NAFTA by Canadian firms.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, thank you.


Members, any other questions?


SENATOR VINCENT:  Just one question.  You mentioned . . . 


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Senator Vincent, can I interrupt you for one moment?


Sergeant, can you call the members?  We’re going to be taking a vote on Senator Battin’s bill and the legislation before the committee at noon.  So, if anyone wants to vote on anything that is before this committee, they should be here at noon.


Go ahead, Senator Vincent.  I apologize.


SENATOR VINCENT:  You mentioned, I think, the term “offshore betting” and how it affected California.  Well, there’s such a thing as off-state betting when it comes to horseracing.  The only thing is, if you don’t get it here, you go to places like New York—Gulfstream.  You go to Prairie Meadows.  You go to Mountaineer.  You go to places where you can get the purse.  You don’t stay in California.  So, that’s a tremendous effect to the State of California.  

I could read you something here.  I won’t do it because a lot of horse people are coming here.  I got this at the Courts Council in 1998.  If you read this, you wouldn’t believe it.  You wouldn’t believe how the horseracing industry has gone down.  Other states are attractive because they do have the kind of gambling where they can enlarge their purses, enlarge their fields, and keep people there.  In other words, you can’t make an exotic bet with five horses in a race.  You’re not going to do a round robin.  You’re not going to do a parlay.  You’re not going to do a pick six.  If you look on the TV and you see in New Jersey fourteen horses in a race, and you look at Santa Anita—it might be six—where are you going to go?  Do you know what I mean?

MR. MUKAI:  Senator, I certainly would not disagree that our honorable horseracing industry in California deserves assistance.


SENATOR VINCENT:  Yeah, I know what you mean.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you, Mr. Mukai.  Very much appreciate it.


MR. MUKAI:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Senator Battin.


After this, we’re going to have the section from the horseracing industry come up, and others, to give us their perspective.


Senator Battin.


[Presentation of SB 288 (Battin).]


[Informational hearing resumed.]


SENATOR FLOREZ:  The horseracing folks—please come forward, and let’s continue on with our hearing.  Thank you for waiting patiently.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Mr. Chairman, while they’re coming up, can I ask a question?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Do you have intention of taking any other resolutions or bills up today?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  No, we don’t.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Chairman Shapiro, thank you for joining us.  A very distinguished group you have before you.  As you know, we had a couple of well-distinguished attorneys speak before you, and here we find ourselves a bit behind.  It was very good information from them as well, but I’ll give you the opportunity to start off, and then I also have some questions for the group in totality.

MR. RICHARD SHAPIRO:  Thank you very much, Chairman Florez and the rest of the members of the committee.


It’s truly a pleasure that you’ve chosen to bring to light at the legislative level a problem that is threatening our industry tremendously.  As Senator Vincent just recognized—and we appreciate your continued support—the horseracing industry is suffering.  The name of this hearing is “Offshore Betting:  How Much is it Costing California?” and I’m going to give you the answer:  Billions.  I can’t tell you exactly, but it’s costing California a lot.  

Just to put a framework around what the issue is, California horseracing today probably employs close to 50,000 people in the State of California.  There are 9,000-plus owners that buy racehorses and racehorses here.  There are probably 17,000 horses that race in the State of California.  Over $4½ billion is wagered on California horseracing.  We have farms.  There’s agribusiness.  The extent of horseracing throughout the state is enormous, and all of it is struggling today.


California is struggling to remain competitive for a variety of factors.  Due to our not having slot revenues—although, we would take that 20 million; since you think it is not much, we’ll take that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  We were thinking more like 250 million.


MR. SHAPIRO:  Well, we’ll take that, but 20 million would be a start for this year.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Those are the next compacts.


MR. SHAPIRO:  That’s right.


But without our having slot revenues, coupled with the expanded tribal gaming and other gaming, California horseracing is being jeopardized today.  Two of our five major tracks are slated for possible closure as a result of the decline of horseracing.


Our fan base has been cannibalized as well with the growth of off-track betting opportunities which are less profitable to the tracks and the horsemen—each of those dollars.  Typically, tracks and horsemen get somewhere between 3 and 5 percent of wagers that are made on off-track wagers.  


The largest growing segment of competition for the wagered dollar is in the form of both legal and non-legal offshore and rebate betting shops.  Those facilities provide a value that tracks and ADW wagering do not offer.  Frankly, they’re eating our lunch and they’re not paying for it.


Illegal offshore wagering outlets—bookmakers—steal our customers and offer discounts up to 10 percent that we cannot compete with.  They give frequent wager discounts, volume discounts, and they allow our customers to go elsewhere outside of our pools and wager.  They are brazen enough to come onto our tracks and steal our fans.  And keep in mind, these offshore wagering companies don’t have any bricks and mortar.  That’s how they’re able to offer the discounts that they do.  They have no skin in the game as our tracks and our horsemen do.  They are the Napster of horseracing.  The effect of this is no growth, lost revenues, lower purses, and it threatens not only our industry, but it also is harming the State of California.

We need your help in finding a way to combat this problem.  This is a problem of a national nature, not just local to California.  But I must tell you, in listening to the prior speakers, we also need to have the teeth in which to deal with enforcement and find ways to solve some of the problems.  Personally, I don’t have a solution or a magic bullet that would solve all of this problem, but we do need to find ways to enforce and prosecute those entities and those people that choose to go wager elsewhere with illegal, unlicensed entities that do not enter our wagering pools.


As you may understand, those people that choose to go offshore are wagering with entities that are unknown to us and unknown to them.  They run the risk, but they do it because they get a discount that we can’t offer.  We need to create laws that will allow stricter enforcement and licensing criteria so that we can police not only our pools better but also be able to reach out and discourage anybody from wagering with an offshore entity.


We must also participate in the National Office of Wagering Security Integrity which will monitor and enforce the wagering in our pools and also be able to alert us of any irregular wagering patterns.  I am pleased to say that the Racing Commissioners International and NHRA are both focusing on this, but that will cost money for us to participate in.  We need to outlaw illegal advertising of any illegal offshore wagering.  We need to be able to institute prison sentences and large fines to discourage people from wagering.  Today I heard that there are issues about free speech and the ability to advertise.  We don’t allow prostitution to be advertised.  We shouldn’t be allowed to have illegal wagering—bookmaking—advertising either; and yet, we find that we have airplanes that fly over our tracks that are advertising these facilities.  We all see that there are illegal offshore wagering and these that wager all the time.  And whether it’s net or it’s com, we all know what they’re doing.

We also have to consider new economics to the game.  We have to consider lowering our takeout and revising our economic models.  We must consider lower takeouts and tax credits, giving economic incentives to the tracks and the horsemen who invest millions of dollars to stage the show.  There are two ways to combat illegal offshore wagering:  It’s beat them at their own game or to be able to just ignore it and let it occur.  We need to find a way that we can compete with them and drive them out of business, or we have to be able to enforce them with some teeth so that we can stop it from occurring.  If we can’t police and enforce the illegal wagering of our product, then we must compete and put them out of business.  We need to consider how we can offer rebates or discounts to customers that would prefer to wager in a safe environment with entities that are licensed versus entities unknown and offshore.  We need to deregulate takeout so that we can be more competitive.  We need to regulate who we are doing business with.


Again, while this is an industry problem, it is a national problem.  I know that we can’t alone in California institute change that will affect the entire industry, but I would hope that California can take the bold steps that are necessary to find a way to at least allow California to thrive once again in the horseracing environment.


Beside me today are some of the best and the brightest in horseracing.  I hope they have some specific answers and ideas that may be able to assist you further.


Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I have some questions for the end of the panel, so who wants to go next?


MR. DREW CUOTO:  I’d like to thank the chairman and members of the committee.  My name is Drew Cuoto.  I represent the Thoroughbred Owners of California.


About four years ago, Thoroughbred Owners of California undertook an examination.  It’s a bit harsh a word, but we took a look at legal and illegal offshore wagering.  I’ll use “offshore” in quotes because some of it actually occurs in sovereign territories (Indian nations in the United States).  We looked at practices in particular that were being engaged in by both the legal and illegal.  That was rebating discounted wagering, incentive-based wagering, batch bets, handle consolidation, serial data links, and signal distribution arrangements.  I guess the best question is:  Why did we do this?  What were we concerned about?

Well, when we looked at the sources of revenue for the industry—in particular, in 2005 everyone was concerned about what advanced deposit wagering meant for the industry—I’m sorry, in 2000, when we looked at this—it was just roughly four-tenths of our handle—of our revenue.  There was a group out there that we termed the PWNs (or Private Wagering Networks) which are really the legal offshore bookmakers with whom we do business.  They were already over 5 percent of our business in 2000.  In 2005, we looked at it again.  Account wagering had grown to 7.3 percent, but the PWNs were substantially larger, representing over 15 percent of our total revenue and handle and growing because of their ability to offer rebates at a much greater and much more substantial rate than the ADW companies.  

It was important to us because, in comparing where our sources of revenue were in the magnitude of those sources of revenue, if we look at a wager, at a single-dollar bet on track, it results in just under 8 cents of that dollar for purses—just over 8 cents for track commissions.  If we look at that same dollar bet offshore or through an out-of-state site, it represents only 1.78 cents out of every dollar.  So, there’s a substantial difference.  And again, with these offshore rebaters not only taking play from out of state, they have been aggressive about attracting California players, whether it’s through assumed addresses or. . . . there’s a number of mechanisms they’ve used to attract California players to avoid legal restrictions.  

Again, looking at the legal wagering companies with whom we currently deal—these are practices that they were engaged in and continue to be engaged in today.  These are entities with whom we have contracts and have had contracts since 2000.  It’s interesting to note that the entity at the far right bottom of this racing services ended up in an indictment, and the principal was in fact jailed this past year; and now the Toqua Tribe—another site with whom we’ve done a tremendous amount of business—has been suspended by the Indian Gaming Commission because of business practices that are questionable.  But yet, we’ve been doing business with them.

We looked at, also, the illegal offshore books and betting exchanges—and Mr. Owens this morning did a very nice job of explaining what the betting exchanges were.  Again, we took a look at these because, unlike the legal entities with whom we do business, we receive nothing, absolutely nothing, for our product.  


Just again, I’m going to probably reiterate what was said earlier.  CBS, November of this past year, did a story about Internet gaming.  They used sources that estimated it in 2005 somewhere around $10 billion in profit that year with as much as 80 percent of the traffic and profit coming from the U.S.  About 12 million Americans today use Internet gambling.  The question is:  How many Californians are doing this?  It’s an estimate, but I would suggest that we can get some indication from legal ADW wagering today which is being practiced basically in forty states across the country.  About 60 percent of the total handle wagered through ADW in the United States is coming out of California.  So, I would suggest that of the $10 billion being wagered in these offshore—I don’t know whether it’s the fact that Californians are much more computer literate or just better sports fans—I would suggest that a high percentage of that money is likely also coming out of the California market.


I looked again for projections.  This projection is from Christensen Capital Advisers who Mr. Owens identified.  Their numbers were slightly different.  They estimated in 2005 total revenues were somewhere around 12 billion in Internet wagering and by 2010 expect that to be almost $25 billion in Internet wagering.  Betting exchanges, illegal offshore books, as I said, they engage in basically the same business practices that our current legal (quote) “partners” do.  

When I looked at this for TOC four years ago, we just tried to identify some of the entities that were engaged, and these were the names that popped up four years ago.  They are all still in business.  Yesterday I did a search—just typed in “horseracing wagering,” and on the first page of my search on MSN, each of these sites came up with literally a thousand more afterwards.  

At the time, again in 2000 when we undertook the investigation, we tried to determine how these entities were regulated—the illegal offshore books that were taking wagers on California racing—and a number of them listed the Offshore Gaming Association as their regulatory body.  As it says, it’s an independent watchdog agency of offshore sports gaming industry providers. When I researched the site for this Offshore Gaming Association, I could not find a contact.  I could not find a location.  I could not find an email.  I could not find an individual.  I could not find a telephone number.  The good news today is I researched it yesterday and there is a phone number now but nothing else.  

So, I looked for other entities that were purportedly regulating the offshore business.  A number of sites include logos for these companies, suggesting to players that they’re regulated.  Each one of these listed up here does not provide a contact that you can call or discuss any issues with.  I only found two that provided contacts; one being the Directorate of Offshore Gaming.  That’s actually a department of the Antiguan government.  And the second is the Interactive Gaming Council which is a nonprofit company in Vancouver that started somewhere in the U.S.  It has no regulatory authority, but it holds itself out as a regulatory agency and body.

You know, we’re talking about recommendations here—what can and can’t be done.  This is a difficult road for any legislature to try to regulate this.  I think the “cat is out of the bag” in one sense.  The WTO-Antigua case makes it clear:  Since we as a national industry permit our own partners to go into states where this activity is not currently specifically legalized, the Antiguans had good standing to say, If they’re letting a domestic company, we can do it as well.  

But there is one thing I believe that our industry can do, and that’s working together—tracks and horsemen—not only here in the State of California but around the country; and that is, we do have proprietary rights in the races themselves and in their results.  Much as the film industry and the record and recording industry has done, they have gone out around the world through different courts, whether they be international or in a specific country, gone out and sought to protect their own IP.  

So, I’m a bit critical of ourselves in that we have made no effort to make these offshore illegal books and betting exchanges targets.  I think that’s one place we can start.  And there are possibly, I believe, ways that the Legislature can help us, and we need to continue talking about that.


Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you.


Let me ask a question just in general before Mr. Charles heads on up.  As we have these larger discussions about the Internet in this building—and I chair the select committee on the Internet:  E-Commerce, Wireless Technology, and Consumer-Driven Programming—the thought is that the content providers in the new world are really going to, in essence, have to assert some power in this new mix and as the content provider using the market.  As the content provider, it seems as though when we talk about IPs and we talk about the ability to enter into these arrangements—I guess what I missed from your presentation is you had legal offshore folks and then you had what we would call the illegal folks.

MR. CUOTO:  Correct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  The legal offshore folks are, in one characterization—excuse me.  The illegal offshore folks in one characterization are the people that really want to come to California if we’d only let them.  If we let them, what would that do to your industry?  And you heard all the reasons why I didn’t think they would want to—all of the reporting and everything else.  But if we provided a home—if we, in essence, gave them that relational opportunity—is that something the industry, particularly the horsemen, would look at and say, Well, this is a whole new model and a platform, and so we’d better start heading there as the content provider?  Or do you look at what you currently do with advanced wagering and say, This is one competitor in this whole thing?  Maybe you can give me your perspective on that.


MR. CUOTO:  Sure.  I apologize for the confusion created by the term “legal and illegal.”  In this context, “legal” means those with whom we have a contract, and “illegal” means those who are using our property, in our view, illegally.

Unfortunately, even our legal partners are largely unregulated entities in foreign jurisdictions.  Because they are largely unregulated entities in foreign jurisdictions paying peanuts, if anything, to the local government for the right to conduct this, I think there’s always going to be a disadvantage to California where there’s a legitimate tax structure, legitimate regulatory authority, and it’s going to end up being a question of dollars and cents for most of these operators.  If they can do it more efficiently offshore at a better profit, they’re not going to come to California.  I don’t believe that will happen.


I will say this, that over the past two months, I know Mr. Charles and I have been approached by entities I would call “illegal” offshores.  They’ve been using our product, and they’ve been asking now if they could actually join into the common pool with us.  We’ve been—and I’m speaking only on behalf of TOC—we’ve been slow adopters because the economic model has been so badly misused by our current partners that we’re not sure bringing in more will really do us any good at this point.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I think they’re seeking you out for an economic reason, and let me just use an example.  Youbet, when it bought one of these folks, we had a small glimpse of their financials.  If you look at their financials and look at how they were operating, it didn’t look as though they were as profitable as one might think.  And I think a lot of that is that as they start to work relationships with the tracks and others in terms of the cost structure—I mean, is that something that was just a company that was not doing well, or do you think this is indicative of all of the companies that are out there, and the Youbet acquisition just allowed us that small glimpse of, really, how these folks are operating?  I thought that was really our only small glimpse of that.


MR. CUOTO:  No.  The company you’re referring to is IRG.  It does business under the name Holiday Beach.  I, for one, do not believe that that company was not doing well, particularly given what they were paying for the signal and the margin they had left over and the volume of business they were doing.  If we look simply at Youbet, which I think because exclusivity agreements have been problematic, their yield on most bets are very low.  That same mechanism and structure doesn’t apply to IRG, and it’s a much greater yield than Youbet has, and that’s what they are able to pay the rebates with.  And that’s a competitive problem for them:  what the other companies will pay as far as rebates.  But there’s plenty of margin there; much more margin than we’re seeing on this industry in this state.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is it fair to say, at least in the debate that I’ve been reading about online gaming in general, the big picture, at least on the congressional level—I seem to see a lot of testimony from those established casinos.  Let’s use Harrah’s and MGM who say, You know, we’re really not worried about it.  If it does open up—and we are going to participate—we have a reputable name.  In other words, We’ll just enter into the industry as a content, brand-equity provider, and we’ll just crush all of the little guys; where people go, ‘I don’t know if my money’s really safe with Holiday [offshore company] Inc.,’ but Harrah’s is a little different.


From the industry’s point of view, do you see moving forward ten years you doing that?  I mean, Santa Anita has a reputable name.  If Santa Anita enters into the market in an online way, because that’s just where it’s going—maybe I feel safer on placing bets, if that’s where we’re going, with Santa Anita online, whatever—have you guys talked about that?  Or is this where we’re going, or is it we’re just going to try to, as the chairman said, are we just going to, in essence, regulate, criminalize, or are we moving. . . . I heard the chairman in Arcadia talk about the rebating issue and moving in the direction of trying to be more competitive.  Where are we going, maybe, as a panel?—or anyone that wants to jump in, that’s fine.


MR. RON CHARLES:  I think you’ve hit it right on the head.  It’s a tough decision for us to decide which way.  We are going to be moving forward.  [Interruption.]


I’m sorry, Ron Charles, Santa Anita.


If I could, I’d just like to start off.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.


MR. CHARLES:  We had a pretty nice day on Sunday, and flying over our racetrack was an airplane roughly 300 to 400 feet above for about four hours.  I’d just like to show you some pictures.  


What we’re faced with is a segment of our industry that is growing faster than any other.  Three years ago, I believe the rebate industry was growing the fastest.  I think ADW then became the fastest growing segment.  Unquestionably right now, offshore books—illegal books—are growing at a rate that we can’t put a stop to.  I can’t tell you how many agents we have at Santa Anita for these offshore books who are soliciting our larger players.  The amount of handle that is being placed on these offshore books is taking money out of the state, it’s taking money from the horsemen, and it’s taking money from racetracks.


We mentioned the five major racetracks in the state.  We’ve got roughly a billion-and-a-half dollars in investment.  We’re spending tens of millions of dollars trying to attract those race fans to come out and watch our races, and meanwhile, we’ve got an airplane flying over.  This one was pretty mellow.  One usually says, “Why bet at the track?  Bet with us, there’s no cost.”


I just wonder what would happen if you had Savon or Rite Aid and a plane flying over there and saying, “Why buy here?  Just buy from Canada.”  Or if you had a place where you could fly an airplane over and basically say, “You can buy from Blockbuster, but you could buy our DVDs at 10 cents on the dollar.”  It just doesn’t seem right.  


This is something I’ve been passionate about.  I think I’ve talked to you.  I’ve talked to the Attorney General for years on this.  It just seems at some point we are going to have to address the issue because four years ago it wasn’t the problem it is now.  As the Internet continues to grow, this is going to grow, and it’s going to cut into our handle to a point where we just can’t be competitive.

MR. SHAPIRO:  And just so you know, when this issue first was raised, I approached the Attorney General’s Office, and unfortunately, the answer we got back is that We have bigger fish to fry.  And yet, for this industry, this is the biggest fish that is threatening us today.

MR. CRAIG FRAVEL:  Mr. Chairman, Craig Fravel, Del Mar Thoroughbred Club—if I could address the question you asked.  It’s a very tricky one.  Candidly, one hesitates to wade too far into it because you realize there are a lot of different issues and a lot of different constituencies that have an interest in it, including the tribal gaming entities and a number of other entities in Nevada.


But I would suggest, just thinking off the cuff here, that whatever we do here, it has to be clear that what’s not authorized is illegal.  I think one of the things we heard earlier, one of the dilemmas, is it’s very unclear precisely what is legal and what’s illegal.  That’s an open invitation for people who are candidly willing and able to take risks that none of the people at this table are willing to take.  I mean, we’re here.  We’re subject to jurisdiction.  We’re subject to being cuffed and walked off if we do things that are even questionable.  And I use the term “cuffed” simply because in many ways this industry, as the chairman indicated, is handcuffed.  We try to operate in a regulated environment and do it by the book with a whole regulatory agency overlooking us, and any time we want to change our business model, we have to come to the Legislature and that regulatory agency to do it.  Whereas, people who operate outside the law and outside the country—or within the country and outside the law—can do basically whatever they want.


So, from my standpoint, whatever we do, we need to make clear what is legal and what’s illegal.  Ultimately, it seems to me, that if you were to consider what the earlier spokesperson said—basically, the “if you can’t beat them, join them” theory—there is an advantage to us in that because then, at least, we have people that are interested in complying with the law, who are accustomed to regulation, who are branded entities like MGM or Harrah’s, who might want to be partners with us in business rather than simply pirates.  I prefer partners to pirates if that’s at all possible.

In the real world, I’m not sure that that’s likely.  I mean, if you tried to say, We’re going to open the door to Internet gaming in California and let ISO providers provide that service in a regulated fashion, I personally don’t know whether that’s even doable politically because of all the people that would come out of the woodwork on that.  But I do think ultimately, we’re better off if we can deal with people that we can deal with directly and legally because they’re present and subject to jurisdiction, to bring appropriate legal actions against them or with them; in either case.  


I’m not one of those people who thinks we ought to prohibit everything under the sun, but I do think we ought to clarify what is legal and what’s illegal and take advantage of the fact that we do have a legal product that can be waged on over the Internet currently.  And I think one of the things we need to do is take the “func” out of this dysfunctional industry and get our act together a little bit and do it better.  But that’s our problem, really, as much as anyone’s, and I know the Senator’s taken a major role in trying to help us through that.  But I do think we can’t take our eye off of that ball.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Senator Soto.


SENATOR NELL SOTO:  I just want to ask—isn’t there something to be said for competition?  

MR. FRAVEL:  I agree there’s a lot to be said for competition.  I think the point at what I was saying earlier, Senator Soto, was that you can compete with people who are in a legitimate business.  The problem we’re really faced with—and I think what Drew’s slides point out and what Chairman Shapiro pointed out—is we’re competing with people who have no constraints whatsoever.  I mean, they don’t pay taxes; they don’t comply with any laws; they solicit customers without any regard to consumer rights; they don’t have to comply with environmental laws; they take our product and essentially confiscate it for their own purposes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  But even the Napster was at some point brought into the system.  Right, Mr. Chairman?


SENATOR SOTO:  Are you positive that these people don’t have a license, that they don’t have a right to . . . 


MR. SHAPIRO:  No.  If I can address your comment, Senator.  What we have here is, with the tracks, they are basically told to operate business with one arm tied behind their back, when you compare it to the offshore people and the competition.  They are regulated to an extent that they are only given so many days with which they can operate.  Because of the nature of the business, we don’t have competing entities that are even vying for licenses to race because it takes a racetrack.  Then we restrict what monies they can make and what economic models that they’re going to offer to return to the fans through the form of takeout and license fees.  The State of California currently gets just from its license fees approximately $40 million.  Then the horse owners, every time a horse is claimed they’re taxed.  So, there are restrictions on their ability to make money.  You put that up against the offshore entities—they are not licensed, they are not regulated, and they operate with their own economic model—frankly, the industry itself can’t compete with them.

SENATOR SOTO:  Well, I don’t mean to act as if I’m condoning it.


MR. SHAPIRO:  No, I didn’t think you were.  But I think it imparts to you some of the problems that are facing this industry.  This industry needs help at the legislative level to help it become more competitive in the gaming environment.  It is not the easiest form of gaming.  Certainly, blackjack or roulette are easier.  But it is a form of entertainment, and yet, these tracks are all trying to do the best they can, and yet, they are restricted in a variety of ways where we regulate them and we do license them.  Frankly, some of the partners that they reach out to—and not necessarily these tracks but some of the offshore entities that are licensed—the California Horse Racing Board doesn’t really have the funds to even ensure that those people are properly licensed and are reputable.  So, we have problems on a variety of levels.


MR. CHARLES:  But your question was fair.  I think the problem in New York, where they went under receivership, they were forced to stop doing business with certain rebate companies because the rebate companies wouldn’t provide information regarding the wagering, and there was a concern over money laundering.  There was a concern over fixed racing.  And what you saw was a mass exodus of those horseplayers who were betting with a licensed rebate company shifting their handle and our money to an offshore bookmaker where they could stay anonymous.  That’s why that industry is growing so fast.  Is there a place in our industry to get together and work out potentially a rebate system with total transparency that provides adequate income and proper distribution of money in our industry?  I believe there is, and I think we need to sit down and see and at least give it a try to try to put something together.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  You’ve kind of hit where I wanted to go in terms of the rebating issue.  Are those discussions real?


MR. VICTOR GALLO:  May I?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.


MR. GALLO:  Victor Gallo, vice president of Business Development for Youbet.com.  I also run International Racing Group—one of those offshore rebate shops that we’re referring to.

I think there is absolutely a discussion there.  One of the things we did when we bought International Racing Group was to provide transparency, we hoped, to the industry’s satisfaction about a company that does business like that.  We screen 100 percent of our players through 38 different databases, both criminally and civilly, internationally, locally, statewide, Nevada/Illinois preclusion lists—all forms of preclusion lists—so we know who we’re doing business with, and we think that just makes sense.


I come from a Nevada gaming background.  Those kind of things just make sense to us.  Can we get others to do it?  I don’t know.  Are there other solutions?  I’m also a former prosecutor.  I think, though, knowing and having screened all the Internet gaming companies when I’m looking for acquisition targets—there’s 1,600 of them out there—screen down just to those that don’t do business in the United States, do business cleanly, that takes you down to about 13.  


Now, I don’t think there are enough criminal enforcement officials in the State of California to deal with 1,600 companies that are doing business in some irregular fashion.  That being said, as some of the other panelists have mentioned, giving teeth to some enforcement mechanism with perhaps some private police power enforcement—for those of us who are negatively economically impacted—might have—just a thought—a way of dealing with this.  Because we can identify who is most significantly impacting our industry probably better than the prosecutors, frankly.  I imagine they have a few other things to deal with.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And where would that self-policing power lie?


MR. GALLO:  I think it would have to come from a statutory change.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes, I got it, but is that Mr. Shapiro’s board?


MR. GALLO:  I think you would want to broadly have it lie with the CHRB, but those businesses also impacted, like Santa Anita.  The horsemen who are impacted should have that authority to prosecute if they so choose.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Do you want to work with us on that?


MR. GALLO:  Sure.


SENATOR SOTO:  May I ask something?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Senator Soto.


SENATOR SOTO:  I’m from Pomona, and I just worry, anything that has to do with racing.  We only do it for seventeen days.  Would this type of activity have any effect or a big effect on a small city that’s trying to keep their racetrack going?


MR. CHARLES:  No.


SENATOR SOTO:  It wouldn’t.


MR. CHARLES:  No.


MR. CUOTO:  Senator, in my research of the illegal offshores, those that I did check were all offering wagers on every California racetrack running, including Fairplex.  And so, yes, Fairplex is impacted by this.

SENATOR SOTO:  It is impacted.


MR. CUOTO:  Yes.


MR. CHARLES:  Well, to a detriment—you know, is it a standpoint where Fairplex is going to be picked out?  Absolutely not.


SENATOR VINCENT:  Let me get to a question for you guys, where the wheel hits the roads.  Let’s get down to the real business here.  It’s about money.  And I’m going to give you a good example.  This book—I’ve been involved with horses a long time—this book, it’s called, The Force of the Horse.  It came from Washington, D.C.  It has eleven of the most influential states in the horseracing business.  On the bottom, it was Idaho—on these eleven—and then it was Maryland, then it was Colorado, then it was Ohio, Oklahoma, Kentucky, Illinois, New York, Florida, Texas, and California, tops.  Tops.  

At that same time—we could print this—the horseracing industry in California, the largest professional sport in this state, creates more than 52,000 industry-direct jobs.  And agriculture-producing goods and services, they are 3.4 billion.  Overall, an 11.4 billion impact on the state’s economy.  Attracts 15—and that’s really a joke now—attracts 15 million spectators a year.  Preserves more than 154,000 acres for agricultural land.  Receives no tax subsidies, this business.  Contributes millions of dollars to local and state taxes.  Contributes to state fairs, which would take care of you, sweetie.  University of California research, Wildfire Restoration Fund, and local charities.  What I just said now, it’s a joke if you look at it today. 


Now, a lot of places, and I mentioned them before, and I’ll get to the nitty-gritty on it—were going out of business.  Mountaineer was going out of business.  Prairie Meadows was going out of business.  And I can mention other tracks that were going out of business.  But when they got the one-armed bandit, purses went up, the fields got bigger, and the crowds got larger.  California is just the opposite:  The purses are smaller, the fields are smaller.

Now, I did like what I saw at Santa Anita in the past few days, but I’ve seen times at Hollywood Park when they had five horses in a race.  You can’t do an exotic bet with five horses.  As a matter of fact, you can’t hardly bet with five horses in a race.


So, what I’m saying is, if we’re going to do this thing, let’s try to be righteous with it.  Let’s try to do some legislation.  In my situation—and this is all based on horseracing, not on the proliferation of gambling.  It’s horseracing.  I think that we should give slots to Santa Anita, Hollywood Park, Los Al (where you have the quarter horses), Bay Meadows, and Golden Gate—up north, down south.  I think that would be a tremendous lift to our horseracing industry.


MR. SHAPIRO:  Senator Vincent, we agree with you, okay?  But we also . . .

UNIDENTIFIED:  We might add a few locations.  [Laughter.]

MR. SHAPIRO:  Del Mar may want a few too.  

SENATOR VINCENT:  I hear you guys can’t take slots.  I heard if it’s a state track, you can’t take them.


MR. SHAPIRO:  In any event, we recognize that we would love to have slot machines.  However, in the interim, or concurrently, there are other things that I would hope that you could look at doing which would also assist the industry in a variety of ways.  I believe that there could be, as I said, perhaps a new economic model, perhaps reduced license fees to the State of California, perhaps tax incentives or tax breaks to horsemen and horse owners that invest billions of dollars in racing stock in California.  Today, if a horse is claimed for $25,000, the state tax is 8 percent.  The horse will be claimed in his next start, and there’s another 8 percent.  I mean, we have to look at how we’re going to keep horsemen, owners, and tracks in California.


SENATOR VINCENT:  Excuse me for cutting you off.  Let me give you another example.  I agree with you wholeheartedly.  Do you know what it costs for a ton of alfalfa or hay in Iowa?  


MR. SHAPIRO:  No, not in Iowa, I don’t.


SENATOR VINCENT:  Do you know what it costs out here?  About $160.


MR. SHAPIRO:  That I do know.


SENATOR VINCENT:  Per ton.  You can get it for half of that in Iowa.  You get it for half of that in Ohio or maybe even less than half.  The expenses are greater in California in the first place.


MR. SHAPIRO:  We agree with you, and that’s why, again, we have to look at. . . . California provides the best of everything to its horsemen.  We have the best racing facilities.  We have the best, okay?  But our operating costs are the highest, and it is hurting the tracks, it’s hurting the horsemen, and we have to find an economic model that will work to keep the tracks in business and the horsemen in business and allow the companies to make money.


SENATOR VINCENT:  But let me give you another thing, and I put this on you guys.  I had the task force; I’ve been working on it a long time.  I was told to get the task force.  I was told to do it, and I was told at the end of it we’d do some legislation and it would be coauthored by some pretty big people here.  I had meetings at Del Mar.  I had meetings at all the tracks, the major tracks, and you know what?  I said, Look, tell us what you need.  You guys never told us.

MR. SHAPIRO:  Money.


SENATOR VINCENT:  Well, but you didn’t say that though.


MR. SHAPIRO:  I wasn’t there, but I’ll say it for them.


SENATOR VINCENT:  What I’m saying to you, some of the guys here were there.  They’re all on the task force, everybody sitting here today.  But it was told to you, What do you need?  He was at some of the meetings at Hollywood Park, the gentleman there.  Did I tell you guys that?


UNIDENTIFIED:  You did.


MR. CHARLES:  We agree.  Senator Florez—


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.


MR. CHARLES:  One comment directly regarding the question you asked—What can we do? or How’s this been addressed?—the one jurisdiction that absolutely took a position on this was Hong Kong.  Five or six years ago their horseracing started to go down based on the fact that they were losing money to offshore books and betting exchanges.  They went through a two-year period of trying to change the way they were doing business with them.  They couldn’t stop them.  They were advertising in newspapers, magazines, bus stops.  They put up their own buildings.  They passed a law making it illegal to advertise—any offshore bookmaker.  They also criminalized the bettor of up to $1,500 for the first offense if he got caught making a wager.  They also went to the banks—Bank of America, with MasterCard, Visa—and any suspicious type of transaction, they held the banks accountable.  The amount of money that suddenly came back into their pool was huge.  And this was a step that was taken because Hong Kong, which roughly 10 percent of their entire revenue comes from racing, saw this deterioration and this money leaving their jurisdiction.  It’s something I think we should take a look at.


MR. CUOTO:  I’d like to just follow up on what Mr. Charles had to say.  And I apologize for not being able to quote the statute, but there is a statute that exists in California, which is very different than any of the other forms of gaming, which says a wager on a horserace may be placed in no other manner than as a parimutuel wager.  To do so is a crime in this state, unlike what Mr. Owens said about no statute.

Mr. Charles’ point is that all of these companies that are engaged in advertising in the State of California, including that plane that flew over, is advocating the commission of a crime, and there should be consequences to that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Senator Vincent, would you agree, that maybe we work with these folks to get that statute done this session?  Let’s try that.  I mean, let’s try something concrete.  We’ve got three senators here saying we want to do that, so we’ll look to your guidance, Mr. Chairman, and your folks to help us attempt that.  Let’s see how that goes.


MR. SHAPIRO:  Even the data is also available.  Youbet has an incredible database, and I know that I’ve gone there.  They can identify the people that are online for hours and hours and hours and never make a wager.  They clearly are betting offshore.  If they were threatened of criminal prosecution, they would come into our pools.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let’s work on that.


Let me ask one other question on a policy question that Mr. Fravel brought up.  And Mr. Chairman, you brought it up.  I’m sorry to grab onto this little nifty sound bite you had there on Napster, but at some point in time, the content provider—let’s go back to the nuts and bolts of this thing—was struggling like you folks.  They were like, People are ripping us off.  This Internet is the Wild, Wild West.  We have no control over this.  Someone stepped in at some point in time and provided some parameters there.  A lot of that was IP-driven.


One of the questions I’ve asked in this new committee that we’re working on—IBM, that’s working on the next web (Web 2.0 or the semantic web)—is the opportunity to find the entity, the channel, where this is solely the channel.  And so, we have those types of checks that’s Youbet’s doing.  We have these types of good-faith efforts, and they’re reporting and are doing the things that they need to do, or you just can’t do it.  So, as the technology is changing to these various types of channels—and maybe it’s not dot-com; maybe it’s dot-gaming, or whatever it is when there’s a threshold to operate on that channel—those technologies are coming, but in the meantime, I think what I hear you saying is that they’re not little things, they’re big things, and it’s probably really annoying to see a plane flying over, advertising an illegal action in the State of California.  And I would agree with you, that’s something we could work on.  And we would like to also work with you on the policing powers of the board and others to go after what we might consider little things which are real big things for you folks.  So, if you can help us with that.  

But the big picture at some point is the content medium.  You know, what is it that says that the racetracks and the horse folks, for example, as content providers get to assert themselves in a bigger way in this next medium, whether it’s television, whether it’s cable, satellite, or Internet?  Because I think at some point in time, that’s the only way you’re going to survive the onslaught of everything that we’ve just heard here; that is, to control that in a way that. . . . you know, Napster now says, Well, okay, I’m like everyone else now.  I was rogue, and now I’m somewhat in the mainstream, and now my competitors are Apple and iTunes, and a whole host of other folks.


You guys got some thoughts on that big picture?


MR. CUOTO:  Well, I do.   For the most part, in horseracing a lot of it is driven by the ability to see the race, and that’s why people spend so much time on Youbet—they’re able to see the race and bet elsewhere.

Your point about content control and driving the future of the Internet—the IP essentially—I think technology hopefully will enable us to better protect our property.  The question is:  Will we actually do it when the opportunity comes along?  In my opinion, we will have an opportunity in the next five years.  The question is:  Can we do it?  I hope we can.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  That’s fair.


MR. FRAVEL:  Senators, if I could add just two things.  First of all, the Interior Commission did a large study several years ago, which I’m not sure if your committee has a copy of.  I brought one for the staff.  There is a draft of some private enforcement legislation that was prepared by counsel to the NTRA, and TOC was a big part of putting that whole study together.  If you don’t have it, I’ll leave that with your staff.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Steve, if we could, let’s see if we could as a committee bill—if we could pull in our committee staff and talk about this.  Let’s try to do something this year.  I guess the point is, is that if we’re serious, let’s put something on.  We’re at the start of a new session; let’s get some discussion going on it.  If there’s a model, I think maybe that might be something to work from.


MR. FRAVEL:  Great.  And my second comment relates to the question you just asked—what the future holds.  Our biggest problem as an industry is that it takes us a year to a year and a half to adjust to technology.  As I said before, we have to go to the Legislature to get a new bet approved basically.  There are technologies that I’m on committees that are working on to be able to track horses to their precise location on the racetrack that would ultimately enable us to introduce new bet types to bet how one horse behaves against another within the space of a quarter mile on a racetrack.  And we’ll be able to take advantage because we own the property—and we’ll hopefully own the technology.  We’ll be well positioned, I think, in the future to create new bet types and new wagering opportunities and lottery-type bets and all kinds of things.  

But candidly, when you operate in an environment where you have to go in front of the Legislature and every potential competitor out there has the opportunity to kill a bill that gives you some flexibility in your industry, it’s a huge competitive disadvantage.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I would say go do things early and lock in on your content and technologies well before others.  And you’re right.  I mean, if you can utilize the moving chips and everything that might provide you some opportunities, I would say come to the Legislature early—way early—before all of this stuff becomes major.  I know that I’ve talked to folks here about our extension of the ADW issue.  As we talk about the technologies that currently exist, that’s some kind of an extension.  But then, there’s another extension which I think is a broader extension, which is, you know, what are we really talking about?  What are we extending when we talk about the Internet and we see people going on platforms?  I imagine that people are going to Youbet to get their statistics and saying, Great, let me now log onto the offshore and do what I need to do.


MR. CHARLES:  Or to watch the race.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Or to watch the various cable deals.  I mean, the Internet is providing a different medium, and, I think, Craig, as you mentioned, it might offer opportunities for an industry to figure out many types of games that will probably be twenty years from now; something that people will say, Look, I’m going to be betting on, not on the full race, I’m betting on the half.  At the half, I think this is what’s happening, and the second half, I think this is what’s happening.  There’s a mix of a deal.  I mean, I can imagine the million types of things that people think about on these types of games.  The Internet provides that, but again, it’s that content ownership that I think we’ve got to establish somehow legislatively in a very big way and make sure that’s locked in, in California early.


MR. FRAVEL:  We’d appreciate your help on that.


MR. CHARLES:  Absolutely.  Can I just say one thing?  I certainly don’t want to discount what Senator Vincent has had to say.  This is one point today, and again, we can’t thank you enough for doing this, but what Senator Vincent is saying, we are not competitive anymore with other states who have the subsidy from other forums of gambling, and it’s an issue that dwarfs this one.  This is very important, and I appreciate you continuing to bring it up.

SENATOR VINCENT:  Let me tell you something.  You know what?  I’ll be honest with you.  When I think about Del Mar, I think about Bing Crosby.  That’s how far back I think, okay?  We know what that means.  But you know, I’m going to be honest with you.  I was told something—and I’ll say something about this another time—but you know what?  Some of the things you guys are saying at this meeting, I’ve never heard about some of this stuff you’re talking about.  I can show you in writing why I was given an assignment to meet with you guys and us write some legislation—a long time ago—but nobody did anything.  Nobody even showed up at the meetings mainly.  Mr. Liebau—I was at Hollywood Park when I was talking with him with Rick Baedeker.  You remember?  I mean, what more can you do?  I don’t get it.  I just don’t get it.

MR. SHAPIRO:  I’d like to, just in closing, add one last thing, which is, for the California Horse Racing Board to be effective, right now we’ve been trying to get a budget increase—which we’ve been turned down on—just to make sure that all the horses are tested and so forth.  And so, as we move further along in this, I would hope that you would consider allowing the industry itself to be able to come up with these new wagers and allow the Racing Board to be the regulatory body and have the resources for which to provide the oversight which the industry certainly needs and which I believe everybody would agree with and is supportive of.  But I really do urge you to consider whether or not there can be economic aid coupled with deregulation to allow this industry to run a business so that it can prosper.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Mr. Chairman, I would only say I think there’s a window for that sentiment, and I hope that you would take it quickly.  Things change in the Legislature very quickly.  Right, Senator Vincent?  I think there’s a window.


SENATOR VINCENT:  If you look—and I could show it to the world, my legislation, what I was going to do—I’ve got about three spot bills on there.  You know what it all says?  The horseracing industry—all three of the bills.  But there’s nothing to put them on.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, we just filled two of them today, Senator Vincent.  We’ll take you up on that.  I think Senator Vincent hits a good point, and that is, there is this window, Mr. Chairman.  I know you guys get busy.  We all do.  As soon as we leave here, we go back to just trying to deal with the state that we’re in.  But at some point we’ve got to look five years out and say, These are things we need to lock in now.  And you guys need to come to us with that because, obviously, we’re going to switch from this hearing to Indian gaming next week, and then we’ll talk about alcopops, and then we’ll probably go back to the lottery, and then we’ll probably bounce back to card clubs.  So, we also are a moving target, but if you can—and I think we can—focus down with our staffs to see if we can hammer something out this year.  Senator Vincent said, you know, three spot bills is not the place to be.  We should fill those and try to get something done.  And I think the autonomy given to the board is probably something we feel very supportive of.  I do at least.


MR. SHAPIRO:  Thank you very much.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you all.  Appreciate it.


Is there anyone else from the public that would like to make a statement?


Again, let me, as usual, thank Senator Soto and Senator Vincent for sitting through another four-hour hearing, and our Republican consultant as well.  At the end of the year, Senator Soto, we’ve probably put in about three or four hundred hours in this committee?  

So, very good topics.  This transcript will be available on our Senate website, and I would encourage all of you to get it.  I hope that we will work with Senator Vincent on his bills and see if those might be appropriate.  Committee bills are great, but if we have some vehicles, that would be wonderful.  And I hope the staff will work together to see if there’s something we might all agree on.


I’m not sure to bring up my SR 20 now, but I guess probably not.  [Laughter.]


So, let’s go ahead and adjourn.  Thank you all for joining us.

# # #
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